
 

 

Communities, Equality and Local Government 
Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 
Committee Room 2 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 
24 October 2012  

 

Meeting time: 
09:15 

 

For further information please contact:  

Policy: Marc Wyn Jones 
Committee Clerk 
029 2089 8505 / 029 2089 8120 
CELG.committee@wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 
 

 

Pre-meeting - 09.15 - 09.30 

1. Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2. Update on the Financial Inclusion and the Impact of Financial 
Education Report - November 2010 (09.30 - 10.00)   
Shelter Cymru 
No Paper 
 
John Puzey, Director   

3. Update on the Financial Inclusion and the Impact of Financial 
Education Report - November 2010 (10.00 - 10.30) (Pages 1 - 10)  
Money Advice Service  
CELG(4)-24-12 – Paper 1 
 
Lee Phillips, Wales Policy Manager  

4. Update on the Financial Inclusion and the Impact of Financial 
Education Report - November 2010 (10.30 - 11.00)   
Community Housing Cymru Group 
No Paper 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Nick Bennett, Chief Executive Officer  
Clare Williams, Housing Services Policy Officer 
Nigel Draper, Head of Neighbourhoods and Communities, Valleys to Coast  

5. Update on the Financial Inclusion and the Impact of Financial 
Education Report - November 2010 (11.00 - 11.30) (Pages 11 - 20)  
CELG(4)-24-12 – Paper 2 and Paper 2a 
Association of British Credit Unions Limited (ABCUL) 
 
Matt Bland, Policy and Communications Officer  

6. Papers to note   

 
CELG(4) - 24-12- Paper 3 - Additional information from the meeting on 4 
October  (Pages 21 - 27) 
 
 

CELG(4) - 24 - 12 - Paper 4 and Paper 4A -  Financial Inclusion and the impact 
of Financial Education 2010 report and response from the Welsh Government  
(Pages 28 - 104) 
 



 

Written Evidence 
 

 

 
 
 
  
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Communities, Equality and Local 

Government Committee follow 

up on the Financial Inclusion and 

Impact of Financial Education 

report 
 

 

from the Money Advice Service 

 

October 2012 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Written Evidence for the Communities, Equality and Local Government 

Committee follow up of the Financial Inclusion and Impact of Financial 

Education report published in November 2010. 

 

1. The Money Advice Service welcomes the opportunity to update its evidence to 

the Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee. (We previously 

gave evidence to the Committee on the 20th May 2010 as the Financial Services 

Authority/CFEB using the brand ‘moneymadeclear’. Previously as the FSA 

Financial Capability Division and subsequently as the Consumer Financial 

Education Body (CFEB) we linked into the Welsh Government Strategy ‘Taking 

Everyone into Account’ as a funder and a strategic leader. Now, as the Money 

Advice Service, we are aiming to continue as a key partner of Welsh Government 

by also providing services directly to the public in Wales and ensuring that these 

fit into the Welsh Programme for Government, where appropriate. 

 

2. Our free and impartial service is available to everyone in the UK online, over the 

phone and in person, through our network of face-to-face money advisors. Since 

2010, all our customer facing advice is available bilingually, in English and Welsh, 

we have a dedicated telephone helpline number for callers in Welsh, and we can 

arrange for f2f appointments to be carried out by Welsh-speaking Money 

Advisers.  

 

3. Please find below, our update to the Committee’s recommendations and the work 

that we have subsequently undertaken in Wales. 

 

Recommendation 1. We recommend that the Welsh Government engage in 

dialogue with the UK Government, to emphasise that in the current financial 

climate, the provision of financial education has an even greater importance, 

and that finance should be utilised to enable the roll out of the Consumer 

Financial Education Body‘s (CFEB) Moneymadeclear service. 

 

4. The Money Advice Service directly employs one Wales manager based in Cardiff 

as well as the strategic overview responsibility of one of the Executive Leadership 

Page 2



 

  3 

Team and the resources of the whole organisation to support those functions. The 

Money Advice Service then funds other organisations to provide services from 

Wales. This equates to  

a. 11 FTE staff employed to provide the face to face money advice service 

through Citizens Advice Cymru (this is the preventative financial capability 

service and is delivered across Wales)  

b. 32 full time equivalent staff funded by the debt project delivered by Citizens 

Advice Cymru and Shelter  

c. Turn2us deliver the contact centre functions and currently recruits 26 FTE 

people in Wales for the Money Advice Line, and by 2014 staff numbers will 

move to 46 as the service becomes fully mobilised. (The contact centre 

covers calls from across the UK) 

 

Face to Face Money Advice (Preventative financial capability work on a one-to-one basis) 

5. Citizens Advice Cymru is working with the Money Advice Service to deliver face 

to face money advice sessions across Wales, to help everyone make the most of 

their money. This service started in April 2011 and has been delivered from 6 

hubs based in Bridgend, the Vale of Glamorgan, Rhondda Cynon Taff, Caerphilly 

County, Neath Port Talbot, Gwynedd and from October 2012, Denbighshire and 

Powys. Since the start of this service we have had 7474 sessions in Wales. 

 

6. The face to face team work with intermediaries from across Wales, some of which 

have been new and different to previous typical CAB partnerships, such as Asda 

in Brynmawr, A4E in Caernarfon and Colwyn Bay and the Lyric Theatre in 

Carmarthen. 

 

7. The money queries brought by members of the public have been many and 

varied. The top five subjects covered in Wales were Budgeting 30%, Social 

security and tax credits 23%, Credit and borrowing 17%, Pensions and retirement 

planning 10% and Mortgages 5%.  

 

8. Our target for the face to face money advice team in Wales for 2012-13 is 5,280 

F2F sessions. 

 

Page 3



Face to Face Money Advice – Case Study 

A woman lived with her two young children in social housing in a Communities First 

area. Working in partnership with the Money Advice Service, the Communities First 

team referred this person to the face to face money advice team.  Her husband had 

left her and was not contributing to their bills as he had promised. She came to the 

Money Advice Service session wanting advice about divorce and separation, and 

about making ends meet. The customer’s tax credits had been stopped because the 

HMRC input a figure of £4,600 as £46,000 onto their system by mistake. She also 

had £1,000 rent arrears and her council were ready to evict her. The Money Adviser 

set up an appointment with the council that same week to sort out the client’s issues 

with them. The Money Adviser also referred to a Citizens Advice Bureaux benefits 

specialist who stopped the eviction from taking place. The customer was really 

pleased as, in her own words, she had, “put her head in the sand” regarding her 

money issues. 

 

 

Debt Advice 

9. In July 2011 we announced, following a request from UK Government, that we will 

also, in addition to our major ‘preventative’ role helping people to better 

understand and manage their money, play a central role in the coordination and 

provision of debt advice across the UK, starting from 1 April 2012. 

 

10. In Wales, particularly our work in contributing to  the advice services review,  we 

will work with both the Welsh Government and the Welsh Local Government 

Association, to ensure we better understand the funding arrangements across 

Wales and debt advice provision.  

 

11. We are funding 32 debt advisors distributed across Wales to provide face to face 

support for 10,000 people each year. After six months of delivery, 5511 clients 

have received face to face debt advice in Wales.  

 

 

Page 4



 

  5 

Recommendation 2. We recommend that the Welsh Government invites the 

Welsh Language Commissioner (when established by the Welsh Language 

Measure) to engage with providers of financial education, to encourage them to 

ensure money advice is provided in Welsh, as well as other languages  

 

12. The Money Advice Service, Welsh Language Scheme, was approved by the 

Welsh Language Board on 26th March 2012. Our full Welsh Language Scheme is 

available on line at 

https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/files/welshlanguageschemeinenglish.pdf .  

 

13. Below is a summary of our commitments for delivering services in Wales from 

September 2012: 

a. Our website is now available in both English and Welsh languages. This 

includes articles, tools and calculators. (Exceptions to this is video content 

and all digital media that works within an environment of instant 

communication, such as social media, including Twitter, and online 

advertising.) 

b. We provide a Welsh language telephone help line 0300 500 5555 

c. For face-to-face meetings of the Money Advisers we defer to the contract 

holder’s (Citizen’s Advice Cymru) Welsh Language Scheme and they make 

appropriate facilities available when requested.  

d. Individuals and organisations can order from our range of 30 bilingual tilt and 

turn printed guides. 

 

Recommendation 3. We recommend that the Welsh Government make a public 

commitment that it will seek to ensure that the strategic role of the Wales 

Financial Education Unit is sustained and developed to help improve the 

provision of financial education both in schools and within the wider 

community  

 

14. The Money Advice Service recognises the importance of engaging young people 

below the age of 16. This period in their lives represents an opportunity to ensure 

young people are equipped with the knowledge and skills and establish the 

motivations and attitudes that will enable them to make independent financial 

Page 5



decisions.  There is already a great deal of work going on in this area. We believe 

the most valuable contribution we can make is to use our independent status to 

identify and promote good practice in educational interventions that will build the 

financial capability of young people in UK.  

 

15. In July 2012 we held a seminar at the Senedd to outline our plans to key 

stakeholders in Wales including colleagues working in the Welsh Financial 

Education Unit. We will continue to add to the field's understanding in particular 

identifying those interventions most effective in developing the financial capability 

of young people.  

 

16. We will work with partners in Wales, including WFEU to ensure the school 

environment delivers positive outcomes in terms of financial capability for young 

people.  We will use our behavioural expertise and insight to help ensure 

programmes and resource have the greatest impact including addressing 

elements of young people’s attitudes and motivations, and encourage 

programmes that ensure teachers have access to good quality support and 

resources enabling them to deliver effective financial education to their pupils. 

 

17. In addition, we would like to inform the Committee that independent research 

conducted on behalf of the Money Advice Service in 2012 suggests the financial 

services industry spends in excess of £25million each year and provides many 

hours of staff time directed at improving the capability of young people.   

 

Recommendation 4. We recommend that the Welsh Government provide a 

‘central hub‘ of information about financial capability projects, and giving 

monitoring and evaluation guidance for the design and implementation of new 

projects and services. We anticipate that this would also include a directory of 

existing resources which it considered suitable for schools to utilise in 

providing financial education. We anticipate that this would facilitate the 

sharing of good practice, and would also enable schools to quickly identify and 

develop links with potential partners for the delivery of financial education in 

their local areas  

Page 6



 

  7 

18. We are aware that the Wales Cooperative Centre is leading on developing an 

online central hub of financial capability information on behalf of Welsh 

Government. We are a member of the advisory group that is working with the 

Wales Cooperative Centre to deliver this by the end of the financial year. We 

have agreed to support links from this hub, to the relevant content, tools and 

resources on our website. 

 

Recommendation 5. We recommend that the Welsh Government, through 

forums such as the financial inclusion steering group, and in association with 

the UK Government, encourage financial organisations to provide funds for 

independent organisations to provide financial education programmes engage 

with both public and private sector employers to encourage them to facilitate 

the participation of their employees in workplace based financial education 

seminars, and in receiving financial education resources 

 

19. In June 2010, Members’ visited Garnlydan Information Shop, to observe a 

workplace based seminar, on ‘making the most of your money’. This seminar has 

now been broken down into 4-5 minute videos by section so the user can access 

content that is specific and relevant to them at that time. These videos are still 

being finalised but here is an example. 

 

20. We have a specific work and money section on our website explaining different 

aspects such as understanding a payslip etc. The link is here 

 

21. We also have our hard copy guides which can be accessed, ordered and 

delivered for free here 

 

22. Also, we are working closely with the DWP, TPAS and regulators to ensure good 

and consistent automatic enrolment information and advice is provided for all 

employees.  We are developing our tools and planners to support this, including 

developing a tool to enable people to understand whether they are affected by the 

introduction of auto enrolment, understand the options available to them for 

Page 7



retirement saving, including saving extra, and help people understand the impact 

of these options on any existing saving for retirement. 

 

 

Recommendation 8. We recommend that the Welsh Government ensures that 

the provision of financial education is a compulsory element of the PSE 

framework, and reviews the emphasis placed on financial education on a 

regular basis 

and 

Recommendation 9. We recommend that the Welsh Government invite Estyn to 

consider whether the standards of financial education delivered in schools, 

including provision delivered through external agencies, are adequately 

promoted and monitored.  

 

23. We support these recommendations and note the specific money outcomes 

included in the recently published National Literacy Programme which has set out 

the actions the Welsh Government intends to implement to improve literacy and 

numeracy standards in Wales. 

 

24. As part of our wider research programme we are measuring the financial 

capability of 15-16 year olds. We have also, working with others including WFEU 

established a clear view of what financial capability means at different stages of a 

young person’s development. Please see a copy of that research here 

https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/files/impactreviewoffinancialeducationfory

oungpeople.pdf 

 

Recommendation 10. We recommend that the Welsh Government consider 

undertaking a sustained media campaign to help people to understand the 

benefits of financial inclusion and education, and how they can access support 

and financial services (including basic bank accounts and home contents 

insurance) locally, working with stakeholders at local and national levels 

 

Page 8



 

  9 

25. The Money Advice Service marketing campaign, the present phase of which ran 

from 10 September until 15 October, is in support of the Service’s statutory 

responsibility to make the nation more financially capable. 

 

26. The campaign is designed to let millions of people know where they can find free, 

impartial money advice and how the Money Advice Service can help them.  It 

highlights the money issues that affect people every day and also longer term. 

The TV campaign focussed on budgeting, redundancy and moving home. The 

wider press, poster and digital advertising concentrated on other life events, 

including young people, having a baby and retirement.  

 

27. Our early estimate is that, in Wales, the TV campaign reached 87.3% of the 

population (viewing TV) who will have seen one or more of our commercials 

approximately 9 times. 

 
28. We ran posters and press advertising in accordance with our Welsh Language 

Scheme. Just over one third of the posters we ran appeared in Welsh. We also 

ran press ads in Welsh in Golwg, Daily Post and South Wales Evening Post. 

 

Recommendation 11. We recommend that the Welsh Government continue to 

engage with high street banks to take a more positive approach to the opening 

of basic bank accounts 

 

29. We are very supportive of this recommendation and our website has 

comprehensive information for people. 

 https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/articles/basic-bank-accounts 

 

Recommendation 13. We recommend that the Welsh Government continues to 

engage with stakeholders and the UK Government to raise awareness of illegal 

money lending and the damaging impact it has on families and communities. 

As part of this, we anticipate that the Welsh Government will continue to 

engage with partners to ensure that the valuable role of the Illegal Money 

Lending Unit is sustained and developed.  

 

Page 9



30. The Money Advice Service has worked closely with the Wales Illegal Money 

Lending Unit (WIMLU). We have jointly delivered presentations with the WIMLU 

Client Liaison Officers to ensure the wide spectrum of financial inclusion and 

financial capability has been highlighted to groups such as ‘Families First’ and 

Mental Health workers and others. The Money Advice Service also is a member 

of the WIMLU National Stakeholders Group. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Published: October 2012 
 
For further information please contact 
 
Lee Phillips 
lee.phillips@moneyadviceservice.org.uk  
 
PO Box 633 
Cardiff 
CF 11 1PA 
 
Or  
 
Holborn Centre,  
120 Holborn,  
London,  
EC1N 2TD 

Page 10



 

 

15 August 2012 
 
 
Ann Jones AM 
25 Kinmel Street  
Rhyl 
LL18 1AH 
 
 
Dear Ann, 
 
Possible review of 2010 Financial Inclusion report 
 
In 2010, the forerunner to the Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee – the 
Communities and Culture Committee – completed a review of Financial Inclusion and the impact of 
Financial Education. This looked in part at the role of the Welsh credit union system both in 
providing financially inclusive services but also in supporting financial education.  The report 
expressed some reservations about the effectiveness of credit unions in Wales but endorsed the 
Welsh Government’s efforts to stabilise the sector whose development it rightly assessed as being 
patchy.  
 
We are grateful to the Committee for completing this report which had the beneficial effect of 
increasing the awareness issues of financial inclusion and the development of credit unions both in 
the Welsh Assembly and more widely.  
 
Since the publication of this report, there have been a number of developments at both Welsh and 
UK level.   
 
Firstly, in the wider financial inclusion and education space: 
 

· The effect of the economic crisis upon the availability of credit and increasing pressure upon 
family finances. 

· The establishment of the Money Advice Service from the Consumer Financial Education Body 
and the assignment of co-ordinating face-to-face debt advice to it.  

· The increasing use of a relatively new form of high cost, short term credit in the form of pay 
day lending.  

· A continuing lack of competition in home credit with Provident Financial having an ever-more-
dominant market position. 

· The conclusion of HM Treasury’s Financial Inclusion Fund which co-ordinated and monitored 
interventions to tackle financial exclusion.  

· The failure of the outgoing Labour UK Government to pass legislation which would have made 
financial education a compulsory element of the National Curriculum.

Agenda Item 5

Page 11



 

 

Likewise, in the specific area of Welsh credit union development there have been a series of 
significant developments:  
 

· The passage of long-awaited transformative legislative reforms to the Credit Unions Act which 
provide the sector with a range of new powers and flexibilities which came into force in January 
2012. 

· The winding down of the Welsh Government’s Credit Union Action Plan which closes in 2013 
and aimed, among other things, to significantly increase credit union membership and assets.  

· The closure of the UK Labour Government’s Financial Inclusion Growth Fund which provided 
credit unions, including several in Wales, with capital to on-lend to those at risk of financial 
exclusion and which supported several credit unions in Wales to provide an affordable 
alternative to high cost lenders.  

· The announcement by the Department for Work & Pensions that it will invest £38 million in 
credit union expansion and modernisation, open to credit unions across Great Briain, based 
around collaborative efforts to improve efficiency, skills and service with a view to achieving self-
sustainability in 5 to 7 years and increasing British credit union membership by one million.  

 
Given the scale and pace of change we have seen in the two years since the Committee’s last 
report, ABCUL and our 17 member credit unions in Wales (of 21 Welsh credit unions in total) feel 
that it might be an opportune time to assess the progress that has been made by the Welsh 
Government and the agencies it supports in ensuring fair access for all to affordable and 
appropriate financial services.   
 
Much has been achieved in Wales through the actions of the Welsh Government – the entire 
country has access to credit union services, for example, and the membership of credit unions 
continues to expand – however, our members feel that there are opportunities to further enhance 
and increase the effectiveness of the support which the Welsh Government provides so that it has 
the maximum possible impact and benefit for the Welsh people.   
 
In particular, a recent survey of our Welsh members found that 86% of respondents identified 
achieving self-sustainable development as the key challenge facing the sector. It is only through 
achieving self-sustainability that credit union services can be guaranteed for the people of Wales 
into the future and the sector wishes to be able to stand on its own two feet instead of remaining 
reliant upon ongoing subsidy.   
 
It is this challenge we feel the Welsh Government should tackle head-on as it considers the 
support it might provide for the sector after 2013.  UK Governments both now and before the last 
general election have acknowledged the importance of incentivising self-sustainability in their 
support for credit unions and we hope that this learning might be utilised by the Welsh Government 
too when considering its future support.  
 
We do hope that you will consider revisiting your 2010 report both in terms of the wider financial 
inclusion agenda and the development of sustainable credit unions and look forward to hearing 
from you soon. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Mark Lyonette 
ABCUL Chief Executive 
 
cc: Peter Black AM Janet Finch-Saunders AM Mike Hedges AM     
Mark Isherwood AM Bethan Jenkins AM  Gwyn R Price AM     
Ken Skates AM  Rhodri Glyn Thomas AM Joyce Watson AM 
 
Marc Wyn Jones, Committee Clerk     

Page 12



 

 

Credit unions and 
Financial Inclusion  
 

© ABCUL, Holyoake House, Hanover Street, Manchester M60 0AS     www.abcul.coop 
 

 

Credit unions and Financial Inclusion 
 

The changing landscape of financial inclusion 
 

· Since 2010 there have been a series of developments which call for greater scrutiny in relation 
to financial inclusion policy both at UK and Wales level. 
 

· The effect of the financial crisis, the subsequent recession and the squeeze upon living 
standards with falling or stagnant income and high long-term inflation have played out in various 
ways in relation to the provision of financial services and support for those in low income 
communities: 

 
o Pay day lending has gone from a relatively small, niche issue to a major political concern.  

Consumer Focus estimated in 2010 that the value lent by pay day lenders during 2009 was 
£1.2 billion in 4.1 million loans.  By 2010, Citizens Advice estimated this same figure at £1.9 
billion.  The Consumer Credit Counselling Service says enquiries relating to pay day debt 
have gone from 6,491 in 2009 to 17,414 last year and 16,467 so far this year.  The industry 
is now the focus of a concerted campaign by the OFT to stamp out bad practices.  
 

o During the financial crisis competition in the doorstep lending market has collapsed.  At the 
Competition Commission’s 2005 report the three leading doorstep lenders were Provident 
Financial, Cattles and London Scottish Bank.  Both Cattles and London Scottish ceased 
trading during the crisis while many banks’ doorstep and subprime arms – such as Lloyds’ 
Black Horse Finance – were also closed.  During the same period, Provident’s typical APR 
has risen 189% to 272%.  A recent Panorama investigation highlighted concerning practices 
by Provident’s agents. 
 

o Due to fiscal constraints, the Financial Inclusion Fund at HM Treasury was not extended 
beyond 2011.  The Financial Inclusion Taskforce which monitored and directed financial 
inclusion policy came to an end with this as did the successful Financial Inclusion Growth 
Fund which supported credit unions to provide an affordable alternative to high cost lenders 
(though the lending capital invested is retained for recycling in the community).  
 

o There is evidence that the mainstream financial service providers are ceasing to serve 
excluded groups with a general tightening of lending criteria and reduced services to basic 
bank account customers as the burden of regulation and the need to repair balance sheets 
make this work even-less profitable for them.  
 

o Westminster’s Business, Innovation & Skills Committee has highlighted the bad practices of 
profit-making Debt Management Companies who intermediate between creditors and 
debtors in cases of over-indebetedness.  There are concerns that some of these companies 
are exploiting their position for their own gain and not providing a useful service to vulnerable 
people, exacerbating rather than helping to solve their debt problems.  
 

o Rent-to-own retailers, such as Brighthouse, continue to expand rapidly.  With a 30% 
advertised APR these retailers impose charges and extras which can see people paying a 

Page 13



 

 

Credit unions and 
Financial Inclusion  
 

© ABCUL, Holyoake House, Hanover Street, Manchester M60 0AS     www.abcul.coop 
 

multiple of the cost of an white goods item compared with the cash price at other retailers.  
Brighthouse, the market leader, has seen profits leap from £129m in 2007 to £227m in 2011 
adding 24,000 customers.  Their ambitious expansion programme has, to date, seen 228 
stores opened.  
 

o The introduction of Universal Credit by the UK Government will require many people to 
manage their money in a new way – receiving benefits in one monthly payment per 
household including support for housing costs – and suitable financial services will be 
needed to ensure that these groups can do so successfully.  

 

· We feel that the combination of these factors adds ever more importance to the need for a 
thriving credit union sector in Wales and the rest of the UK.  The Welsh Government’s support 
over the past decade and more has been instrumental in helping Welsh credit unions get to 
where they are today and we hope that together we will be able to ensure continued progress. 

 

Introduction to credit unions 
 
The Association of British Credit Unions Limited (ABCUL) is the main trade association for credit 
unions in England, Scotland and Wales representing around 65% of British credit unions who in 
turn serve around 80% of credit union members.  In Wales, ABCUL represents 17 of the 21 credit 
unions in operation.   
 
Credit unions are not-for-profit, financial co-operatives owned and controlled by their members 
providing safe savings and affordable loan facilities.  Increasingly credit unions offer more 
sophisticated products such as current accounts, ISAs and mortgages.   
 
At 30 March 2012, credit unions in Great Britain were providing financial services to 887,965 adult 
members and held more than £762 million in deposits with more than £604 million out on loan to 
members.  An additional 121,922 young people were saving with credit unions taking the total 
number using credit unions above 1 million for the first time.1    
 
The Credit Unions Act 1979 sets down in statute the objects of a credit union; these are four-fold: 

 

· The promotion of thrift among members; 

· The creation of sources of credit for the benefit of members at a fair and reasonable rate of 
interest; 

· The use and control of their members’ savings for their mutual benefit; and 

· The training and education of members’ in the wise use of money and in the management of 
their financial affairs. 

 
Credit unions in Britain are small, co-operative financial institutions which provide inclusive 
financial services in the communities and workplaces they serve.  They are owned and controlled 
by a restricted membership and are operated for the sole benefit of this membership.  The Credit 
Union Act 1979 sets down these operating principles in law.   
 

                                                
1
 Figures from unaudited quarterly returns provided to the Financial Services Authority 

Page 14



 

 

Credit unions and 
Financial Inclusion  
 

© ABCUL, Holyoake House, Hanover Street, Manchester M60 0AS     www.abcul.coop 
 

In the past decade, British credit unions have trebled their membership and assets have expanded 
four-fold.  As this growth has taken place, the role that credit unions can play – both in providing 
equitable financial services to the whole of their communities and providing diversity in the financial 
services sector – has been increasingly recognised by government and policy-makers. 
 
Credit unions have been central to UK Government efforts to promote financial inclusion taking a 
pivotal role, for example, in delivering the Department for Work & Pensions Financial Inclusion 
Growth Fund which provided capital for on-lending to those without access to a source of 
affordable credit.  Ending in March 2011, the loans provided under the fund totalled 405,000 with a 
value of £175 million2  and an independent evaluation of the scheme found that it saved loan 
recipients between £119 million and £135 million in interest payments compared with high cost 
alternatives.3 
 
From January 2012, the Legislative Reform (Industrial & Provident Societies and Credit Unions) 
Order has allowed credit unions to open membership to new groups including businesses and 
social enterprises and to offer new fee-paying and interest-yielding products.  Already a great 
many credit unions have begun to take full advantage of the new possibilities.  

 

Credit union development in Wales 
 

· We are extremely grateful to the Welsh Government for the support they have provided to credit 
unions over many years – this has coincided with the achievement of full coverage of Wales, 
credit union membership rising from 11,000 to 58,000 and developments such as the North 
Wales merger.   

 

· However, the Government’s independent evaluation (available here: 
http://s.coop/walescusupportevaluation) highlights some limitations of its most recent 
programme: 

 
o Financial sustainability could have been better prioritised. 
o The intermediary organisation which manages funds – The Social Investment Business – 

offered limited value for money given proportion of funds it received. 
o More tightly defined objectives would have assisted improved outcomes. 
o Financial analysis shows limited progress toward financial sustainability – many credit unions 

remain reliant upon external subsidy and lag behind their English and Scottish colleagues. 
 

· We welcome the ways in which the Welsh Government has looked to improve on its programme 
further since this report.  We feel that the conclusion of the present programme in 2013 provides 
an excellent opportunity to work closely together to design the best programme possible moving 
into the future.  
 

· ABCUL’s strategy for assisting credit unions to full financial sustainability focuses on harnessing 
the power of collaboration: 

 

                                                
2
 See DWP Growth Fund statistics here: http://www.dwp.gov.uk/other-specialists/the-growth-fund/statistics/ 

3
 See DWP Growth Fund evaluation: http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/d/evaluation_growth_fund_report.pdf 

Page 15



 

 

Credit unions and 
Financial Inclusion  
 

© ABCUL, Holyoake House, Hanover Street, Manchester M60 0AS     www.abcul.coop 
 

o Improve the sophistication and consistency of service between credit unions – services such 
as the Credit Union Current Account and the Credit Union Prepaid Card – and harness 
economies of scale for mundane back-room processing. 

o Better service therefore more responsive to people’s needs and attractive to a wider-range of 
consumers – particularly higher-income, more profitable groups.  

o Reduced costs and increased revenues therefore address sustainability and cross-subsidise 
less-profitable work.  

o Successful credit union systems in US, Canada & Australia (where between 25% and 50% of 
people use credit unions) use this model.  

 

· The UK Government’s Credit Union Expansion Project has committed £38 million to the 
development of a collaborative model for credit union development: 

 
o Builds upon the success of the previous UK Government’s Growth Fund initiative which 

channelled £175 million through credit unions for on-lending with revenue support tied to 
operational and sustainability improvements – incentivised development 

o New investment based upon a DWP feasibility report led by senior finance industry 
executives which established an achievable business case for credit union expansion 
through collaborative approaches. 

o Project inviting bids from consortia of credit unions at present. 
 

· In the current fiscal context, it is vital that the sustainability of credit unions is the key priority of 
any support that credit unions receive.  Only when full-sustainability is achieved can credit 
unions’ services be guaranteed for the future. 86% of respondents to a recent survey of 
ABCUL’s member Welsh credit unions identified sustainability as the key challenge.  
 

· ABCUL therefore recommends, on behalf of our member credit unions, that future Welsh 
Government support should focus on the sustainability challenge.  This should be addressed 
through working alongside DWP to maximise the impact of their programme and through 
incentivising positive steps towards sustainability through contracting arrangements.  The great 
benefits of collaboration should take a central place in this.    Serious consideration should be 
given to whether or not the third-party support arrangements currently in place are delivering 
value-for-money.  
 

· We are very keen to work alongside the Welsh Government, UK Government and credit unions 
to ensure that credit unions in Wales are taking the appropriate steps towards achieving full-
sustainability.  

 
ABCUL – October 2012  

 

Page 16



 

 

Briefing 
 

© ABCUL, Holyoake House, Hanover Street, Manchester M60 0AS     www.abcul.coop 
 

Introduction to credit unions 
 

The Basics  
  

· Around 400 credit unions 
 

· Each co-operatively owned and controlled – one member, one vote 
 

· Over 1 million people – 887,00 adults and 121,000 juniors 
 

· £760 million in savings  
 

· £604 million out on loan  
 

· Credit unions are established under the Credit Unions Act 1979 and are regulated by the 
Financial Services Authority.  Savings are protected by the Financial Services Compensation 
Scheme   

 

· More than 90% of the British population can join a credit union (100% in Wales) because of 
where they live.  Many more can join because of the industry in which they work (including the 
police, public transport, postal service and higher education) 
 

· In the year to September 2011, credit union membership increased 8%, and savings 
increased 12%.  The amount on loan increased by 15%. 
 

· In the decade to 2011, credit union membership increased by 225%, and savings 
increased by over 300%.  The amount out on loan to members increased by over 270%  

 
In Wales 
 
· 21 credit unions 

 

· 58,000 people – including 9,600 junior savers 

 

· £21 million in savings 

 

· £27 million in assets  

 
Figures accurate at March 2012 – for updated figures visit www.abcul.coop or email info@abcul.org  

 

The Products  
  

· Credit unions often offer a range of savings accounts including Christmas savings accounts, 

ISAs and junior savers’ accounts. Members can pay in directly by payroll deduction or through 

Page 17



 

 

Briefing 
 

© ABCUL, Holyoake House, Hanover Street, Manchester M60 0AS     www.abcul.coop 
 

benefit direct accounts; through retail payment networks such as PayPoint and PayZone; by 

standing  order or direct debit, or in cash at local offices and collection points  

 

· Credit unions offer an affordable source of credit to their members: 
  

o Where credit unions compete with providers of small sum, short term credit, such as 

doorstep lenders, interest charges will typically be a tenth of what consumers would 

otherwise pay.  Credit union interest is capped at 2% per month on the reducing balance of a 

loan or 26.9% APR. 

 

o Credit unions can beat high street rates for larger, longer term loans as well with several 

beginning to provide mortgage loans. 

 

· The Credit Union Current Account offers the convenience of ATM machine access, direct debits 

and standing orders and a VISA Debit card, without the uncertainty of high default charges by 

charging a small, regular, transparent fee.   

 

· The Credit Union Prepaid Card makes money easy to manage:  
 

o No monthly or annual fees and low everyday fees  (50p to load, free at point-of-sale, 75p 
ATM fee)                                                   

 
o Full Visa debit card, with ATM and cash-back functionality 
 

An international movement  
 
· Internationally, credit unions exist in 100 countries, serving 188 million people in 53,000 credit 

unions.  
 

· In countries such as the US, Australia and Canada, over 1 in 5 of the population belongs to a 
credit union.   
 

· For more information on credit unions internationally, please visit the website of the World 
Council  of Credit Unions at www.woccu.org  
 

Further information 
 

· Web: www.abcul.coop 
 

· Tel: 0161 832 3694 
 

· Email: info@abcul.org  
 

· Finding your local credit union: www.findyourcreditunion.co.uk  

Page 18



  A
B

C
U

L
 B

ri
e

fi
n

g
 J

u
n
e

 2
0

1
2
  

 
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
  

W
h

a
t 

c
re

d
it

 u
n

io
n

s
 n

e
e
d

 –
 t

h
e
 v

is
io

n
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
  

 
  
 

    E
n

a
b

li
n

g
 l
e

g
is

la
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

a
te

 r
e

g
u

la
ti

o
n

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  

        

O
ri

g
in

a
l 
c
h

a
ll
e
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

th
e
 S

e
c
to

r 
A

lr
e
a
d

y
 a

c
h

ie
v

e
d

  
C

h
a
ll
e
n

g
e

s
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g

  
 

 O
u
td

a
te

d
, 

re
s
tr

ic
ti
v
e
 

le
g

is
la

ti
o

n
  

 L
e
g

is
la

ti
v
e
 R

e
fo

rm
 O

rd
e
r 

c
a
m

e
 i
n
to

 f
o
rc

e
 i
n
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0

1
2
. 

R
e

v
ie

w
 l
a
u
n

c
h
e
d
 i
n
 2

0
0
8
, 

o
ri
g
in

a
lly

 l
a
id

 i
n
 2

0
1
0
. 

  
 

 S
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ri

n
g
 s

u
g
g
e

s
ti
o
n
 t

o
 r

a
is

e
 i
n
te

re
s
t 
ra

te
 c

a
p
 t
o
 3

%
 a

 m
o
n
th

 o
n
 t
h

e
 

re
d
u
c
in

g
 b

a
la

n
c
e
. 
  

 L
a
c
k
 o

f 
e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
, 

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

a
te

 
re

g
u
la

ti
o
n
  

 J
o
in

in
g
 F

S
A

 i
n

 2
0

0
2
 b

ro
u
g

h
t 
la

rg
e
ly

 p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
a
te

 
re

g
u
la

ti
o
n
, 

a
n
d

 e
n
tr

y
 i
n
to

 t
h

e
 F

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

C
o
m

p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n

 S
c
h

e
m

e
 a

n
d
 F

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
O

m
b
u
d
s
m

a
n
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 w

h
ic

h
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

d
 c

re
d
ib

ili
ty

 
fo

r 
s
e
c
to

r.
  

 

 M
o
v
e
 t
o

 d
u

a
l 
re

g
u

la
ti
o
n

 u
n

d
e
r 

P
ru

d
e
n
ti
a

l 
R

e
g
u

la
to

ry
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
n
d
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
C

o
n
d
u
c
t 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 w
ill

 p
re

s
e
n
t 
c
h

a
lle

n
g
e
s
 f

o
r 

c
re

d
it
 u

n
io

n
s
. 
  

  

In
tr

o
d

u
c
ti

o
n

  

 C
re

d
it
 u

n
io

n
s
 i
n
 B

ri
ta

in
 b

e
n

e
fi
t 
fr

o
m

 t
h
e
 e

x
p
e
ri

e
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 k

n
o
w

le
d

g
e
 o

f 
m

a
n

y
 m

o
re

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
e

d
 c

re
d

it
 u

n
io

n
 s

e
c
to

rs
 a

ro
u

n
d
 t
h

e
 w

o
rl

d
. 
 W

it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 o

f 
in

te
rn

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
e
x
p
e
rt

s
, 
A

B
C

U
L

 d
e

v
e

lo
p
e
d

 t
h
e
 p

y
ra

m
id

 m
o
d
e
l 
o
f 

c
re

d
it
 u

n
io

n
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t.

  
I t

 i
s
 t

h
is

 t
h

a
t 
h

a
s
 i
n
fo

rm
e
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 f

o
r 

o
u
r 

c
a
m

p
a
ig

n
s
 a

n
d
 w

o
rk

 o
v
e
r 

th
e
 p

a
s
t 

te
n

 y
e

a
rs

. 
  

 Page 19



  A
B

C
U

L
 B

ri
e

fi
n

g
 J

u
n
e

 2
0

1
2
  

        S
o

u
n

d
 g

o
v
e

rn
a
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 s

tr
o

n
g

 m
a

n
a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
 

 
 

 S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
le

 b
u

s
in

e
s

s
 m

o
d

e
ls

, 
p

ro
d

u
c
ts

 a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
  

 

A
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 i
n

v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
 

 
  

O
ri

g
in

a
l 
c
h

a
ll
e
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

th
e
 s

e
c
to

r 
 

A
lr

e
a
d

y
 a

c
h

ie
v

e
d

  
C

h
a
ll
e
n

g
e

s
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g

  

 N
e
e
d
 f

o
r 

s
k
ill

e
d

 s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
 b

o
a
rd

s
 t
o
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 s

a
fe

 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 s

tr
o
n
g

 
g
ro

w
th

. 
  

 C
re

d
it
 U

n
io

n
 C

o
d

e
 o

f 
G

o
v
e

rn
a
n
c
e
 c

re
a
te

d
. 
 

T
ra

in
in

g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 a

n
d
 k

e
y
 r

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

c
re

a
te

d
. 
 N

e
w

 l
e

g
is

la
ti
o
n
 o

p
e
n
s
 u

p
 m

o
re

 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
 f

o
r 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 a

n
d
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

v
o

lu
n
te

e
ri

n
g
. 

  
 

 P
ro

g
re

s
s
 n

e
e
d
s
 t
o

 c
o
n
ti
n
u

e
. 

 C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 v

o
lu

n
te

e
ri

n
g
 a

n
d
 w

id
e
r 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

h
ip

 
b
a
s
e
 t
o

 b
ri
n

g
 i
n
 a

 b
ro

a
d
e
r 

s
k
ill

s
 b

a
s
e
 t
o

 c
re

d
it
 u

n
io

n
s
. 

  

O
ri

g
in

a
l 
c
h

a
ll
e
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

th
e
 s

e
c
to

r 
 

A
lr

e
a
d

y
 a

c
h

ie
v

e
d

  
C

h
a
ll
e
n

g
e

s
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g

  

 N
e
e
d
 f

o
r 

a
 b

ro
a
d

 r
a
n
g

e
 

o
f 

p
ro

d
u
c
ts

 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
a
 b

ro
a

d
 r

a
n
g

e
 

o
f 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

. 
  

 C
re

d
it
 U

n
io

n
 C

u
rr

e
n
t 

A
c
c
o
u

n
t 
a
n

d
 C

re
d

it
 U

n
io

n
 

P
re

p
a

id
 C

a
rd

 l
a
u

n
c
h
e
d

. 
 O

th
e
r 

s
h
a
re

d
 t

o
o

ls
 

b
e
in

g
 p

ilo
te

d
 t
o
 l
a

u
n
c
h
 s

o
o

n
. 
  

 

 F
u
rt

h
e
r 

c
o
lla

b
o
ra

ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 s

h
a
re

d
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 m

o
d
e
l 
w

ill
 l
e
a
d
 t

o
 e

c
o

n
o
m

ie
s
 o

f 
s
c
a
le

, 
b
ro

a
d
e
r 

p
ro

d
u
c
t 

o
ff

e
ri
n
g
 t

o
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 a
n
d
 m

o
re

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

is
e

d
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

s
e
rv

ic
e
. 
 W

ill
 a

ls
o
 e

n
a
b

le
 l
in

k
 i
n
 w

it
h

 P
o
s
t 

O
ff

ic
e
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 w
h
ic

h
 w

ill
 

re
v
o

lu
ti
o
n

is
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
. 
 .

  
 

O
ri

g
in

a
l 
c
h

a
ll
e
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

th
e
 s

e
c
to

r 
 

A
lr

e
a
d

y
 a

c
h

ie
v

e
d

  
C

h
a
ll
e
n

g
e

s
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g

  

 In
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 t

o
 b

e
 

d
e
s
ig

n
e
d
 t

o
 a

llo
w

 c
re

d
it
 

u
n
io

n
s
 t
o
 g

ro
w

 t
o
 a

 p
o

in
t 

w
h
e
re

 s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty
 i
s
 

p
o
s
s
ib

le
. 
  

 F
u
n
d
in

g
 m

o
v
e
d

 a
w

a
y
 f

ro
m

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 t

o
 c

o
re

 c
re

d
it
 u

n
io

n
 f

u
n
d
in

g
. 
 G

ro
w

th
 

F
u
n
d
 m

o
v
e
d
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t 
fu

n
d
in

g
 b

a
s
e
d
 

u
p
o
n

 r
e
s
u
lt
s
. 
  

  
 

 F
u
n
d
in

g
 n

e
e

d
s
 t
o
 b

e
 b

a
s
e
d

 u
p
o

n
 m

o
v
e
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 s

u
s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty
. 
 F

u
n
d

in
g
 f

o
r 

s
h
a
re

d
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 m

o
d
e

l 
is

 n
e
e
d
e

d
 t
o

 e
n

a
b
le

 c
re

d
it
 u

n
io

n
s
 t
o
 m

o
d
e
rn

is
e
 a

n
d
 

re
a
c
h
 m

o
re

 p
e
o
p

le
 f

r o
m

 a
 b

ro
a
d

e
r 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

h
ip

 b
a
s
e
. 

  
  

Page 20



Agenda Item 6a

Page 21

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted



!
!"##$%&'&()*+%,*!$-'$.(*!"##&''((

/&%+%0&+-*1%0-$)&"%*+%,*'2(*1#3+0'
"4*/&%+%0&+-*5,$0+'&"%

!"#$%&$'()*+*

Agenda Item 6b

Page 28



62(*7+'&"%+-*8))(#9-:*4".*;+-()*&)*'2(*,(#"0.+'&0+--:*
(-(0'(,*9",:*'2+'*.(3.()(%')*'2(*&%'(.()')*"4*;+-()*+%,*&')*
3("3-(<*#+=()*-+>)*4".*;+-()*+%,*2"-,)*'2(*;(-)2*
?"@(.%#(%'*'"*+00"$%'A

!"#$%$&'()"*&#&)+,#)-#'.*/#($+)('#&0"#1$#-)2"3#)"#'.$#40'*)"0%#!//$51%,6/#7$1/*'$8#

!!!"#$$%&'()!#(%$"*+,

9)+*$/#)-#'.*/#($+)('#&0"#0%/)#1$#)1'0*"$3#*"#0&&$//*1%$#-)(50'/:#*"&%23*";#<(0*%%$:#%0(;$#+(*"':#

023*)#)(#.0(3#&)+,#-()58

=.$#9)552"*'*$/#0"3#92%'2($#9)55*''$$

40'*)"0%#!//$51%,#-)(#>0%$/

90(3*?#<0,

9@AA#B4!

=$%8##CDA#DCEA#EBFA

@0G8#CDA#DCEA#ECDB

$50*%8#9)552"*',H92%'2($H9)55I70%$/H;)JH2K#

L#40'*)"0%#!//$51%,#-)(#>0%$/#9)55*//*)"#9)+,(*;.'#DCBC

=.$#'$G'#)-#'.*/#3)&25$"'#50,#1$#($+()32&$3#-($$#)-#&.0(;$#*"#0",#-)(50'#)(#5$3*25#

+()J*3*";#'.0'#*'#*/#($+()32&$3#0&&2(0'$%,#0"3#")'#2/$3#*"#0#5*/%$03*";#)(#3$();0')(,#

&)"'$G'H#=.$#50'$(*0%#52/'#1$#0&K")7%$3;$3#0/#&)+,(*;.'#)-#'.$#40'*)"0%#!//$51%,#-)(#

>0%$/#9)55*//*)"#0"3#'.$#'*'%$#)-#'.$#3)&25$"'#/+$&*M$3HPage 29



!
!"##$%&'&()*+%,*!$-'$.(*!"##&''((

/&%+%0&+-*1%0-$)&"%*+%,*'2(*1#3+0'
"4*/&%+%0&+-*5,$0+'&"%

!"#$%&$'()*+*

Page 30



!"##$%&'&()*+%,*!$-'$.(*!"##&''((

!"#$%&'($)*(+,'-($-)$.+/*,'(0$+-%%',,##.$'.$,-$#1&%'(#$2',"'($,"#'/$/#%',$,"#$
#13#(4',*/#5$&4%'('.,/&,'-($&(4$3-6'+0$-)$,"#$7-8#/(%#(,$&(4$&..-+'&,#4$3*96'+$
9-4'#.:

!"#$;-%%',,##<.$/#%',$+-8#/.=

>"-*.'(7?
>+-%%*(',0$.&)#,0?
>+-%%*(',0$'(+6*.'-($'(+6*4'(7$;-%%*(','#.$@'/.,$&(4$,"#$A3&,'&6$B6&(?
>C#6."$6&(7*&7#5$.3-/,$&(4$+*6,*/#:

/"0(.)

!"#$;-%%',,##$2&.$#.,&96'."#4$-($DE$F*(#$DGGH$&.$-(#$-)$,"#$I..#%960<.$
.+/*,'(0$+-%%',,##.:$J,.$3-2#/.$&/#$.#,$-*,$'($,"#$K&,'-(&6$I..#%960$)-/$C&6#.<$
A,&(4'(7$L/4#/.5$3&/,'+*6&/60$AL$MD:$!"#.#$&/#$&8&'6&96#$&,$
0001+))(#2-30+-()1".4

!$..(%'*!"##&''((*5(#2(.)6&7

5"6+##+,*8)46+.
A-*,"$C&6#.$N&.,$
C#6."$;-(.#/8&,'8#$B&/,0

8-$%*9+:&()
O'4$&(4$C#.,$C&6#.
P&9-*/

;('6+%*<(%=&%)
A-*,"$C&6#.$C#.,
B6&'4$;0%/*$$

>3%%(*?(+4-(
!-/)&#(
P&9-*/

@+%,3*5(0&()
Q;"&'/R
S#60(
P&9-*/$

5+.=*A)6(.0"",
K-/,"$C&6#.
C#6."$;-(.#/8&,'8#$
B&/,0$

9+&*>-"3,
A-*,"$C&6#.$C#.,
B6&'4$;0%/*$$

<"3B(*C+')"%$
O'4$&(4$C#.,$C&6#.
P&9-*/

D-(+%".*;$.%6+#
K-/,"$C&6#.
C#6."$P'9#/&6$S#%-+/&,$$

Page 31



 

Contents 
 

Chair’s foreword .............................................................................................................. 5 

The Committee’s Recommendations ................................................................... 7 

Introduction .................................................................................................................... 10 

What are ‘financial inclusion’ and ‘financial education?’ ................. 10 

Why did we want to do an inquiry into financial inclusion and 

financial education? ...................................................................... 10 

Terms of reference ....................................................................... 11 

How did we conduct the inquiry? ................................................... 12 

Key Themes ..................................................................................................................... 14 

1. Opportunities for financial education .................................................... 16 

Provision through community settings .......................................... 16 

Positive projects in the community ............................................ 16 

Gaps in provision ...................................................................... 22 

Provision through education settings ............................................ 39 

The priority of financial education in the school curriculum ........ 40 

Provision of resources for delivering financial education in   

schools ..................................................................................... 41 

Who delivers financial education in education settings? .............. 42 

Provision through a media campaign ............................................ 46 

2. Financial inclusion- access to financial services .............................. 49 

Access to basic bank accounts ...................................................... 50 

Post offices................................................................................... 51 

Credit Unions ............................................................................... 52 

Community Development Finance Institutions ............................... 53 

Home Contents Insurance ............................................................. 55 

Financial exclusion through lack of internet access ....................... 55 

3. Stigma ........................................................................................................................ 56 

4. Income Maximisation and Debt Minimisation ................................... 58 

Benefit take-up ............................................................................. 59 

Page 32



 

Debt Minimisation ........................................................................ 60 

Illegal money lending ................................................................... 61 

Witnesses ......................................................................................................................... 63 

List of written evidence ........................................................................................... 65 

 

 

 

Page 33



5 
 

Chair’s foreword 

“If you think education is expensive, try ignorance.”1   

 

‘Money worries’ can have a devastating impact on peoples’ lives.  

Families can be torn apart by the pressure of worrying whether there is 

enough money to get through the month.  Guilt and stress associated 

with dealing with debts make a fertile breeding ground for depression, 

stress and mental ill health.  Businesses suffer if their employees are 

thinking more about how they will feed their children, than how they 

can succeed in their job.  

 

So how much opportunity do people in Wales have to gain financial 

skills, knowledge and confidence, to make informed decisions about 

managing their money?  In the course of this inquiry, we heard many 

positive examples of financial education being provided in schools, in 

workplaces and in community settings.  But we also heard that, across 

Wales as a whole, the provision of financial education is inconsistent, 

and that many people don’t take it up because they fear they will be 

stigmatised for admitting they could manage their money better.  

While we welcome the work already undertaken on this vital issue, we 

have also made a range of evidence based recommendations which we 

believe we help the Welsh Government to better address this matter.  

 

We have also heard concerns that a number of existing programmes to 

provide financial education may be cancelled or scaled back, in light of 

the current pressure on public funds.  We urge the Welsh Government 

to use all its influence to avoid such cuts, because we consider that 

financial education has an even greater importance in the current 

economic climate: if individuals have less money coming in, they need 

to be even smarter about how they utilise it. 

 

Finally, on behalf of the Committee, I would like to offer my sincere 

thanks to all those individuals and organisations that gave us the 

benefit of their experience and advice, whether in formal committee 

meetings, informal dialogue at a variety of visits, responses to our call 

                                       
1 The Yale Book of Quotations notes that this quote was attributed to Derek Bok, an 
American lawyer and educator, by Paul Dickson, in The Official Rules (1978), but 
appeared earlier, without attribution to any individual, in the Washington Post, Oct. 
6, 1975. 

Page 34



6 
 

for evidence or completed questionnaires. I would also like to thank all 

the members of the Communities and Culture Committee for their 

commitment to this inquiry. 

Page 35



7 
 

The Committee’s Recommendations 

Recommendation 1. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

engage in dialogue with the UK Government, to emphasise that in the 

current financial climate, the provision of financial education has an 

even greater importance, and that finance should be utilised to enable 

the roll out of the Consumer Financial Education Body’s (CFEB) 

Moneymadeclear service………………………………………………(Page 18) 

Recommendation 2. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

invites the Welsh Language Commissioner (when established by the 

Welsh Language Measure) to engage with providers of financial 

education, to encourage them to ensure money advice is provided in 

Welsh, as well as other languages………………...……..…………(Page 27) 

Recommendation 3. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

make a public commitment that it will seek to ensure that the strategic 

role of the Wales Financial Education Unit is sustained and developed 

to help improve the provision of financial education both in schools 

and within the wider community…………………………….…..…(Page 30) 

Recommendation 4. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

provide a ‘central hub’ of information about financial capability 

projects, and giving monitoring and evaluation guidance for the design 

and implementation of new projects and services. We anticipate that 

this would also include a directory of existing resources which it 

considered suitable for schools to utilise in providing financial 

education.  We anticipate that this would facilitate the sharing of good 

practice, and would also enable schools to quickly identify and develop 

links with potential partners for the delivery of financial education in 

their local areas…………………………………………………….…..(Page 31) 

Recommendation 5. We recommend that the Welsh Government, 

through forums such as the financial inclusion steering group, and in 

association with the UK Government, encourage financial organisations 

to provide funds for independent organisations to provide financial 

education programmes………………….…………………………....(Page 33) 

 
 
 

Page 36



8 
 

Recommendation 6. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

engage with both public and private sector employers to encourage 

them to facilitate the participation of their employees in workplace 

based financial education seminars, and in receiving financial 

education resources……………………………………………………(Page 34) 

Recommendation 7. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

engage with local authorities across Wales to highlight the cross-

cutting value of addressing financial inclusion and financial education 

as part of their existing statutory responsibilities.  We anticipate that 

as part of this, the Welsh Government would encourage individual local 

authorities and housing associations to identify senior individuals to 

have an overarching responsibility for financial inclusion and financial 

education work, across the authority/association………………(Page 38) 

Recommendation 8. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

ensures that the provision of financial education is a compulsory 

element of the PSE framework, and reviews the emphasis placed on 

financial education on a regular basis……………………..………(Page 41) 

Recommendation 9. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

invite Estyn to consider whether the standards of financial education 

delivered in schools, including provision delivered through external 

agencies, are adequately promoted and monitored…………….(Page 46) 

Recommendation 10. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

consider undertaking a sustained media campaign to help people to 

understand the benefits of financial inclusion and education, and how 

they can access support and financial services (including basic bank 

accounts and home contents insurance) locally, working with 

stakeholders at local and national levels…………………….……(Page 48) 

Recommendation 11. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

continue to engage with high street banks to take a more positive 

approach to the opening of basic bank accounts……….………(Page 51) 

Recommendation 12. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

continue to engage with local authorities and third sector advice 

services to ensure a proactive approach to enabling benefit take-up.  

We anticipate this would include ensuring that if people are known to 

be in rent and/or council tax arrears that they are signposted to 

information on benefits that they may be entitled to, but are not 

claiming…………………………………………………………….…….(Page 60) 

Page 37



9 
 

Recommendation 13. We recommend that the Welsh Government 

continues to engage with stakeholders and the UK Government to raise 

awareness of illegal money lending and the damaging impact it has on 

families and communities. As part of this, we anticipate that the Welsh 

Government will continue to engage with partners to ensure that the 

valuable role of the Illegal Money Lending Unit is sustained and 

developed…………………………………………………………….….(Page 62) 

Page 38



10 
 

Introduction 

What are ‘financial inclusion’ and ‘financial education?’ 

“Those individuals who are excluded know what it feels like if a bank 

has no interest whatsoever in serving that decile or quartile of society 

who really want emergency credit, quite often.”2 

- Community Housing Cymru 

 During the course of our inquiry, we heard a variety of definitions 1.

of the terms ‘financial inclusion’ and ‘financial education.’  Shelter 

Cymru, remarked to us, for example, that:  

“some people might see financial inclusion as being a matter of 

how they can get more money, whereas others might see it as 

being a question of how they manage money when they have 

it.”3 

 The Welsh Government have defined financial inclusion as: 2.

“everybody having access to an appropriate range of financial 

products and services, which allows them to effectively manage 

their money, regardless of their level of income, social status or 

ability. For financial inclusion to be achieved people need to be 

supported to have, as a minimum, some basic financial skills, 

product knowledge and understanding.”4 

 For the purpose of this inquiry, we have considered ‘financial 3.

education’ to be the opportunities that people in Wales have to gain 

financial skills, confidence and knowledge: both to make informed 

decisions about using financial products and services, and to manage 

their money. 

Why did we want to do an inquiry into financial inclusion and 
financial education? 

 Access to financial services and the ability to manage money 4.

effectively can obviously make a difference to a person’s material 

wellbeing, but there is also considerable evidence to suggest that it 

                                       
2 Record of Proceedings of the National Assembly for Wales (RoP), Communities and 
Culture Committee, 10 June 2010, Paragraph (Para) 12 
3 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 70 
4 Welsh Government, Taking everyone into account: Financial Inclusion Strategy for 
Wales 

Page 39



11 
 

can have a positive impact to their psychological and emotional 

wellbeing. Indeed, the Financial Services Authority (FSA) told us that  

“Some of the work that we have done on economic wellbeing 

suggests that, even if you hold income constant, you can 

nevertheless improve people’s psychological and material 

wellbeing by improving their financial capability… moving 

people from low levels of financial capability to average levels 

of financial capability can reduce anxiety and depression by 

between 7 per cent and 15 per cent.”5 

 The Communities and Culture Committee is responsible for 5.

examining the expenditure, administration and policy of the Welsh 

Government, and associated public bodies, in relation to Housing, 

Community Safety, Community Inclusion, the Welsh Language, Sport 

and Culture.  We considered an inquiry into the Welsh Government’s 

Financial Inclusion strategy to be therefore both within the remit of 

our cross-party Committee, and- in light of the economic climate- 

particularly timely. 

Terms of reference 

 We agreed the following terms of reference for conducting an 6.

inquiry into ‘Financial Inclusion and the impact of Financial Education’’ 

in March 2010: 

– to consider whether people of all ages in communities across 

Wales are given the opportunities they need to gain and develop 

the skills, knowledge and confidence necessary to make 

informed decisions on budgeting, borrowing, insurance saving  

and other financial products;  

– to identify any gaps in the provision of financial education and 

examples of good practice that could be replicated across Wales; 

– to examine the role of the statutory, private and third sectors 

acting individually and collectively in providing and promoting 

financial education within communities; 

– to inquire whether the financial education that is being provided 

is appropriate to individual needs and circumstances; 

                                       
5 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 192 and 194. 

Page 40



12 
 

– to assess whether effective links are made between the provision 

of financial education and the provision of access to financial 

services; 

– to examine how effective financial education can contribute to 

income maximisation and debt minimisation; 

– to assess the effectiveness and appropriateness of the Welsh 

Government’s policy on financial capability and income 

maximisation as outlined in its Financial Inclusion Strategy. 

How did we conduct the inquiry? 

  We launched a call for evidence on this inquiry in March 2010. By 7.

the end of the consultation period, on 7 May 2010, in excess of 30 

responses had been received from a variety of statutory, private and 

third sector organisations with an interest in the topic.  

 We also issued a questionnaire to gather evidence about the 8.

general public’s experiences of financial inclusion and financial 

education, which was made available on the Committee’s webpage and 

was distributed in hard copy to the general public at summer events.  

57 questionnaires were anonymously completed. 

 We also took oral evidence for this inquiry at formal committee 9.

meetings between 22 April and 8 July 2010. In this process we took 

evidence from a wide range of witnesses, including:  

– the Minister for Social Justice and Local Government; 

– Financial Capability Forums; 

– the UK’s Department of Work and Pensions Financial Inclusion 

Champion for Wales; 

– The Financial Services Authority (FSA) and Consumer Financial 

Education Body (CFEB); 

– The Association of British Credit Unions; 

– Shelter Cymru; 

– Community Housing Cymru (CHC); 

– Citizens Advice Cymru; 

 Finally, we undertook a series of fact finding visits to a variety of 10.

projects intended to help deliver financial education, including: 

Page 41



13 
 

– a workplace based seminar by the UK Consumer Financial 

Education Body (CFEB) on ‘making the most of your money’ (at 

the Garnlydan Information Shop); 

– a school delivering IFS (Institute of Financial Services School of 

Finance) qualifications (Ysgol y Berwyn); 

– a school which had started a Credit Union for First Savers (Ysgol 

Bryn Gwalia in partnership with Communities First Bryn Gwalia 

and the All- Flintshire Credit Union); 

– a citizens’ advice bureau with experience of delivering financial 

education both in schools and in the wider community (Swansea 

Citizens’ Advice Bureau). 

 Notably, the inquiry appeared to have particular resonance for 11.

many consultees, as it took place during difficult economic conditions.  

In particular the Minister for Social Justice and Local Government 

welcomed the inquiry, stating that: 

“This is an important inquiry; it is important to the committee, 

but it is also important to the Welsh Assembly Government—

financial inclusion is one of our strands, and we believe that it is 

extremely important.”6 

 

                                       
6 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 8 July 2010, Para 100. 

Page 42



14 
 

Key Themes 

 Having carried out our inquiry, we are now able to provide a set 12.

of conclusions and evidence-based recommendations to the Welsh 

Government, and relevant others.  A summary of our 

recommendations is detailed on pages 7-9. 

 There was agreement amongst our witnesses that 13.

mismanagement of money, and financial exclusion, could potentially 

have a devastating impact on peoples’ lives.  For example the co-

ordinator of the North Wales Financial Capability forum noted that he 

had personally: 

“seen the terrible consequences that mismanaging money can 

cause people. It causes arguments, it causes families to fall 

apart and, of course, there is a very strong link between debt 

and mental ill health.”7 

 Indeed, the importance of giving people the skills, knowledge and 14.

confidence they need to manage their money well was summed up by 

Consumer Focus Wales: 

“Improving financial capability not only gives consumers the 

confidence to make informed financial decisions, it also helps 

them to feel better prepared for the financial impact of life-

changing or unexpected events (e.g. having children, long-term 

illness-accidents, retirement, bereavement or job loss), and 

better equipped to cope with financial difficulties.”8 

 Whilst it was acknowledged that many people in Wales do lack key 15.

money management skills, there was also recognition that many 

people have adapted not just to their own circumstances, but also the 

obstacles they face in accessing mainstream financial services, such as 

bank accounts, insurance or credit.  This point was made by Splotlands 

Credit Union which commented that: 

“Often, people with poor financial skills and literacy have in fact 

developed highly sophisticated coping mechanisms which in 

large part operate outside of mainstream provision.”9 

                                       
7 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 22 April 2010, Para 4 
8 CC(3) FI 14 
9 CC(3) FI 17 

Page 43



15 
 

 In considering these issues, we have identified 4 key themes as 16.

emerging in the course of our inquiry, considered in the chapters 

below: 

– Opportunities for Financial Education 

– Financial Inclusion- access to financial services 

– Stigma 

– Income maximisation and debt minimisation 

Page 44



16 
 

1. Opportunities for financial education 

 The evidence of our inquiry suggested that many people continue 17.

to “learn about money management skills the hard way, by going 

through an experience of overindebtedness.”10 
 

 Indeed, a number of respondents to our questionnaire 18.

commented that they had received their financial education through 

“life, learning the hard way… [and] painful experience.”11   

 However, our witnesses also identified a number of potential 19.

opportunities for gaining a financial education, including: 

– provision through community settings; 

– provision through educational settings; 

– provision through a media campaign. 

Provision through community settings 

Positive projects in the community 

 Many examples of successful projects providing financial 20.

education in the community were provided in the written evidence 

received by the committee, often involving a variety of statutory, 

private and voluntary agencies.  A few of these projects are referenced 

below: 

Money management advice 

 Many of our consultees made reference to the work of Citizens 21.

Advice Bureaux (CABx) across Wales in the fields of financial education 

and debt advice.  Twenty bureaux were engaged in financial capability 

work during 2009-10 which included one-to-one sessions, group work 

as well as sessions for front-line workers who work with vulnerable 

groups.  

 During a rapporteur visit to Swansea Citizens Advice Bureau, one 22.

of our Members, Bethan Jenkins AM, also heard that the CFEB’s money 

management services had been “bolted onto” the Citizens’ Advice 

                                       
10 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 22 April 2010, Para 7  
11 Responses to Committee’s questionnaire. 

Page 45



17 
 

Bureau’s telephone advice service, ‘Adviceline Cymru.’  This was 

intended to enable “the client more choice of debt help.”12 

 The CFEB also provided substantial evidence of the opportunities 23.

that are available across Wales for people to improve their financial 

capability.  In particular it made reference to its Moneymadeclear 

service which is available by telephone, online and on a face to face 

basis in Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil.   

 The CFEB indicated that they believed this face-to-face service 24.

would be made available across Wales by Spring 2011.  Many 

consultees made reference to Moneymadeclear, with its face-to-face 

element felt to be a particularly significant development. Consumer 

Focus Wales commented that: 

“Face to face services not only help us to build up a degree of 

trust between the client and advice provider, they also enable 

the adviser to gain a better understanding of a person’s 

personal circumstances.”13 

 The Minister for Social Justice and Local Government also 25.

expressed support for the delivery of such advice, commenting that he 

saw the: 

“CFEB as an integrated part of the Assembly Government’s 

proposals regarding a strategy for taking this programme 

forward together. I have been very impressed by the work that 

CFEB does. There are many examples of how we work together. 

We recognise CFEB’s money guidance service. It delivers the 

programme, and we have used it at our offices in Merthyr 

Tydfil. This has been a joint operation: we have given our 

services and the CFEB has given its services. I mentioned earlier 

how we integrate those services in our most vulnerable 

communities. We have engaged with our Communities First 

partnerships in Merthyr Tydfil and Blaenau Gwent as a first 

example of that process, in our Merthyr Tydfil office; 

specifically, I am talking about how they can roll out 

                                       
12 CC(3) AWE 09 Note of Members visit to Swansea Citizen’s Advice Bureau  
13 CC(3) FI 14 

Page 46



18 
 

‘Moneymadeclear’. We are trying to look at this holistically and 

to share best practices.”14 

 However, the CFEB also acknowledged that the current financial 26.

climate could potentially delay the roll out of its Moneymadeclear 

service: 

“with the change in circumstances in Government in the UK, 

there will be a pause in the process of gaining certainty about 

whether we will be able to roll out face-to-face provision as 

quickly as we would have liked. I am still confident that we will 

be able to do it, but I ought to not mislead the committee into 

thinking that we will be able to drive ahead at the speed at 

which we had hoped.”15 

 We are concerned that in the current economic climate, with ever 27.

increasing pressure on public funds, that services yet to be delivered 

may be the first to be cut. However, we consider that the provision of 

financial education has an even greater imperative in the current 

economic climate, given that many people will not have any increase in 

their income over the next few years. We believe that it is therefore 

critical that the ‘Moneymadeclear’ service is rolled out to all parts of 

Wales, without delay or cut back. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government engage in dialogue 

with the UK Government, to emphasise that in the current financial 

climate, the provision of financial education has an even greater 

importance, and that finance should be utilised to enable the roll 

out of the CFEB’s Moneymadeclear service. 
 

 Whilst not directly providing financial education, another face-to-28.

face service mentioned by a number of witnesses was the Department 

for Business, Innovation and Skills’ Financial Inclusion Fund (FIF) which 

provides face-to-face debt advice through a number of CABx in Wales.  

In the last financial year 7,155 clients were seen through FIF in Wales 

by CABx. 

                                       
14 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 8 July 2010, Para 113 
15 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 178 

Page 47



19 
 

Workplace based learning 

 In Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil, the CFEB’s Moneymadeclear 29.

service was linked to its existing UK-wide work of providing workplace 

based seminars on ‘Making the Most of Your Money.’ These seminars 

are individually tailored to the needs of each group of employees. 

 The programme involves one hour-long seminars, delivered by 30.

specially trained presenters and covers basic financial planning and 

budgeting, borrowing (long and short-term), insurance, saving and 

investing and planning for retirement.16 Amongst many workplaces 

that have benefited from these sessions are both the Welsh 

Government and the National Assembly for Wales. 

 Such seminars were also mentioned by the Association of British 31.

Credit Unions, which described how some of its credit unions, that 

were “embedded within those employers, played a big part in that 

programme with regard to doing lunchtime sessions of around half an 

hour to an hour.”17
 

 Committee Members Alun Davies AM and Mohammed Asghar AM 32.

observed the delivery of one such seminar, at Garnlydan Information 

shop. One participant commented after the seminar that: 

“I thought it was very good… interactive and personal.  We get 

literature through sometimes, but you know how it is… you 

don’t make that connection with yourself, and you sometimes 

just put it to one side, as you don’t necessarily have the time to 

read it.  I’ve signed up for me and my wife to meet with the 

money-guide as there are a few things we can probably 

improve on, and hopefully save some money.”18 

 The CFEB also described how they sought to aim their advice 33.

services at particular critical points in peoples’ lives, commenting that: 

“we have programmes in colleges and universities for those 

young people not in education, employment or training, and 

for young parents. Virtually every new parent in the UK—1.3 

million of them—now receives the parent’s guide to money. 

                                       
16 CC(3) FI 22 
17 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 24 June 2010, Para 41 
18 CC(3) AWE 03, Note of Members Rapportuer visit to Garnlydan Information Shop 

Page 48



20 
 

When people are facing redundancy or are about to retire, 

those are key stages in people’s lives.”19 

 We consider such seminars to be a highly valuable tool in 34.

delivering financial education, although we are concerned that for such 

talks to be effective, they require employers to facilitate and welcome 

them.  We have considered this issue further in the following sub-

chapter: gaps in provision. 

Private sector involvement 

 Written evidence was received from Barclays, whose Money Skills 35.

programme was specifically mentioned by many witnesses as a 

positive example of private sector involvement.  Barclays noted to us 

that Money Skills is: 

“…a programme helping disadvantaged and ‘hard to reach’ 

people make independent and informed financial decisions 

about budgeting, spending, saving, investing and using credit 

responsibly.  This will help them to improve their 

understanding of the implications of choices they make, 

become confident and knowledgeable consumers and aware of 

their responsibilities and rights.”20 

 In its evidence, Rathbone Cymru also noted it delivered Barclays 36.

Money Skills courses which should benefit around 3,000 young people 

in Wales.21  

 Similarly, Careers Wales North East noted the work that it carries 37.

out with Debtcred22 volunteers, staff from Marks and Spencer Money, 

and the Bank of America to deliver financial literacy lessons in schools. 

They cited this as a positive example of the public, private and 

voluntary sectors working together to deliver financial education. 

 We welcome the involvement of the private (and other sectors) in 38.

the provision of financial education. However, we also believe it is 

important that the impact of such engagement is maximised through 

strategic planning and co-ordination, an issue considered in further 

detail in the following sub-chapter. 

                                       
19 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 155 
20 CC(3) FI 11 
21 CC(3) FI 01 
22 Debtcred is a national charity funded by the High Sheriff’s Office. 

Page 49



21 
 

Housing association involvement 

 The role played by housing associations in facilitating financial 39.

education and combating financial exclusion was recognised by many 

from inside and outside the housing sector.  It was noted that 16 

associations had their own financial inclusion strategies23 and many 

participated in wider networks of stakeholders that had a common 

interest in promoting financial inclusion such as the two Financial 

Capability Fora.   

 Clwyd Alyn Housing Association’s written evidence stated that it 40.

participated in the North Wales Financial Inclusion Partnership and had 

provided training for staff in customer facing roles.24  Similar staff 

training has taken place across the sector. 

 Community Housing Cymru (CHC) is the representative body for 41.

housing associations in Wales.  It currently employs a Financial 

Inclusion Officer with the support of Welsh Government funding.  CHC 

noted in its written evidence that one of the roles of this officer is to 

increase financial literacy amongst tenants.   

 One of the most significant developments within the housing 42.

sector has been the establishment by housing associations in Wales of 

Moneyline Cymru, a Community Development Finance Institution 

(CDFI).  This was developed specifically to provide affordable loans and 

to respond to the use of doorstep lenders by housing association 

tenants.   

 

                                       
23 CC(3) FI 30 
24 CC(3) FI 25 

Page 50



22 
 

Gaps in provision 

 As noted in the previous sub-chapter, our witnesses provided us 43.

with many positive examples of financial education being delivered in 

community settings.  

 However, the evidence received in this inquiry also suggested that 44.

there are significant variations in the provision and availability of 

financial education across Wales. Indeed, coverage was variously 

described by various witnesses and consultees as “fragmented,”25 

“limited,”26 and “sparse, intermittent and patchy.”27   

 Such fragmentation was described to exist both in terms of 45.

geographical coverage across Wales, in relation to particular social 

groups (such as disabled people, and those who do not speak English) 

and in relation to those people who were not ‘targeted’ because they 

were not seen to be part of an obviously vulnerable social group.  

Concerns were also raised that such fragmentation was indebted to a 

lack of overarching strategic co-ordination of financial education. 

Gaps in geographic provision 

 A consistent theme running through the evidence was that the 46.

availability and opportunities for financial education would vary 

between geographic areas.  This view was expressed by Katija Dew, of 

the Department for Work and Pension’s Financial Inclusion Champions 

Team, who stated that “local opportunities very much depend on the 

agencies on the ground, their commitment, reach and capability.”28 She 

explained, in oral evidence, that: 

“you have to rely on having what I call, ‘certain ingredients’ in 

that locality to work with. For example, you need an advice 

agency that is very keen to work on this agenda and that has 

the capability and resource to do so. You also need a credit 

union to work around the table and to be a part of that. There 

are also Communities First interventions to consider and so on. 

                                       
25 CC(3) FI 05 
26 CC(3) FI 06 
27 CC(3) FI 12 
28 CC(3) FI 08 

Page 51



23 
 

So, local intervention is patchy, and that is down to resources, 

volition and understanding and so on.”29
 

 Moreover, Citizens’ Advice Cymru commented that: 47.

“of our 31 member bureaux, 19 have been involved in financial 

capability work. I must say that the others are not involved not 

because they do not want to be, but because they do not have 

the funding to do it. For example, we are engaged with Barclays 

Bank plc, which funds the Horizons project, which provides 

financial education specifically to lone parents. That is one of 

the projects happening in Cardiff. That sounds wonderful, but 

it is happening in only two places in Wales. So, you have to 

remember that, although all of these things are happening, 

they are happening in restricted areas… there is work being 

done in Cardiff and other places around lone parents, funded 

by Barclays, but there are other parts of Wales where we are not 

able to deliver to lone parents because we do not have the 

capacity. So, although some of them are getting assistance, 

which is proving to be incredibly valuable for them, in other 

places that is not the case.”30 

 Similarly, the evidence of this inquiry highlighted that significant 48.

work is being undertaken on financial education through Communities 

First areas, with End Child Poverty Network Cymru (ECPNC) noting that 

many Communities First partnerships offer a sign posting service for 

financial capability services.  However, ECPNC were concerned that 

those who live outside of these areas, particularly rural areas, do not 

have access to such assistance.  

Gaps in provision- untargeted individuals 

 The evidence of this inquiry also suggested that, to some extent, 49.

the availability of financial education would also depend on whether an 

individual fitted into a social or demographic group that had been 

identified as needing targeted financial education.   

 Many examples of groups that had been targeted were given 50.

throughout the written evidence, including single parents, older 

people, those not in employment and young people not in education, 

                                       
29 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 31 
30 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 24 June 2010, Para 96 and Para 100 

Page 52



24 
 

employment or training.  However, a wide range of witnesses raised 

concerns that this meant individuals not in a social or demographic 

group being targeted for financial education could miss out on such 

support.  Shelter Cymru commented that: 

“Community voluntary organisations are running some of the 

financial education projects.  These are only likely to be 

accessed by those already receiving a service from these 

organisations, so the opportunity is not really there for the 

general public.”31 

 In further written evidence to the committee to support this claim, 51.

Shelter Cymru cited some examples of work it carries out around 

Wales that suggests many people do not have the financial skills or 

awareness that would help prevent difficult financial situations 

becoming a crisis. Shelter Cymru asserted that this was a particular 

problem in the current economic climate, because they were:  

“seeing a change in client profile, given the current financial 

problems and issues. People who have been employed for 30 

years who have never had a problem or an issue are now 

coming to us. They might not, perhaps, be aware of where to 

seek help, nor are they in groups that are targeted for support 

or campaigns, so they may not seek assistance until they get to 

the court stage or they get to some crisis, because they are 

living in their homes and are not classed as a vulnerable group. 

However, when you are hit by a crisis like this, you become 

vulnerable. You might not have been vulnerable before, but you 

are seen as being so now.”32 

 Similarly, Citizens’ Advice Cymru commented that: 52.

“some people do not fit into any particular group that has been 

chosen and therefore do not get their financial education. Work 

is being done at the moment, as part of our financial inclusion 

fund face-to-face debt advice, around ensuring that, when 

people come to us for debt advice, part of what you give them 

as an individual is also some financial education. Some of the 

work that we do, which relates to financial capability but is not 

group work, potentially gives you a chance to pick up those 

                                       
31 CC(3) FI12 
32 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 131 

Page 53



25 
 

people who do not fit into anyone else’s group or the groups 

that we are already delivering to, if we could only get funding 

to do it.”33 

 Indeed, respondents to our questionnaire suggested that financial 53.

management problems were suffered by a majority of people, rather 

than an isolated few. Several respondents expressed concerns that it 

was actually easier for “people who are not poor to waste money.” 34 

 However, while Katija Dew acknowledged that focussing financial 54.

education on specific groups may mean some people are “lost between 

the gaps,” she argued that targeting “has great strength for those who 

are supported as they are engaged in a way that is appropriate to their 

needs and motivations.”35  

 Indeed, the CFEB’s approach of targeting financial education at 55.

key life stages was welcomed by many.  The CFEB believe that this 

allows it to “intervene at key life stages when financial information and 

education is most valuable, with information that is tailored to an 

individual’s situation.”36 

 A similar approach was advocated by Denbighshire County 56.

Council, which noted that each of its Welfare Rights and debt advice 

assessments was tailored to the individual needs of the individual.37   

 Acknowledging that an exclusively “targeted” approach risks 57.

losing people through the gaps, the CFEB told the Committee that its 

targeted efforts are complemented with more mainstream work.  It 

noted that engagement of local organisations with its work can ensure 

wider access to its resources: 

“Those organisations that are known and trusted in their 

communities then sign-post people into our resources or 

indeed provide them directly, such as midwives providing the 

Parent’s Guide to Money.”38 

                                       
33 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 24 June 2010, Para 103  
34 Response to the Committee’s questionnaire. 57.1% of respondents to our 
questionnaire stated that they had experienced money problems themselves. 
35 CC(3) FI 08 
36 CC(3) FI 22 
37 CC(3) FI 24 
38 CC(3) AWE 07 CFEB following evidence session on 20 May 

Page 54



26 
 

 Indeed, the Minister for Social Justice and Local Government 58.

suggested that a balance needed to be struck:  

“between access for all and targeting some of those vulnerable 

groups with the limited amount of resources that we have... We 

also link in with the times of life when financial circumstances 

change, such as retirement or redundancy, and so on. We can, 

therefore, pinpoint people who are affected by different 

financial challenges… we try to strike a balance between what 

information is given to people and to whom it is given, and 

how effective that process is… there are markers in life that 

change financial needs. Having a baby, leaving education, 

experiencing divorce, and facing retirement are all points in 

someone’s life where their financial challenges change. The 

work of CAB, CFEB and other organisations gives an 

opportunity to support people who need that support, but we 

also need to broaden our horizons with regard to general 

financial literacy in schools, education for people with learning 

difficulties and so on. That is the fine balance in which we find 

ourselves.”39 

Gaps in provision- particular social groups 

 Witnesses also suggested a number of particular social groups 59.

that they considered could benefit from greater targeting of financial 

education.  Indeed, the Young Women’s Christian Association (YWCA) 

referred to the action in the Welsh Government’s Single Equality 

Scheme, Department for Social Justice and Local Government Action 

Plan, to carry out a review of the specific financial inclusion needs 

faced by particular groups.40 

 A range of witnesses, including End Child Poverty Network Cymru 60.

(ECPNC), expressed concern about the lack of provision of money 

advice in the Welsh language or indeed other languages.41  Notably, 

CFEB acknowledged shortcomings in its own services for Welsh 

speakers: 

“We recognise that one of the gaps in the CFEB delivery of 

financial capability is that not all of our resources are currently 

                                       
39 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee,8 July 2010, Para 117-123 
40 CC(3) FI 21 
41 CC(3) FI 09 

Page 55



27 
 

available in Welsh.  CFEB is currently working on ensuring our 

resources are available in Welsh and we will work closely with 

the Welsh Language Board to ensure this is done as 

appropriately and as quickly as possible over the next year, 

including developing a Welsh Language Scheme for CFEB.” 

 In its written evidence, the Welsh Government noted that the 61.

Welsh Financial Education Unit (WFEU) had already been working with 

the financial services sector to ensure that more of its material was 

made available in both English and Welsh.  We welcome this work, and 

are conscious that the proposed Welsh Language Measure42 may also 

provide a strong and independent voice for the Welsh language 

through the establishment of the Welsh Language Commissioner as an 

identifiable champion and advocate for the language.  We believe that- 

when established- the Welsh Language Commissioner may usefully be 

able to assist the WFEU in working with the financial services sector to 

ensure that more of its material was made available in both English 

and Welsh. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government invites the Welsh 

Language Commissioner (when established by the Welsh Language 

Measure) to engage with providers of financial education, to 

encourage them to ensure money advice is provided in Welsh, as 

well as other languages. 
 

 Age Cymru (formerly Help the Aged and Age Concern) highlighted 62.

the particular problems facing older people including explicit age 

barriers to certain financial products, such as travel and motor 

insurance. 

 Scope highlighted the difficulties that disabled people can face, 63.

particularly in relation to the benefits system.  It noted that in Torfaen 

a specific project has been established providing financial education to 

people of all ages.43  Scope welcomed the fact that disability was 

recognised as a relevant factor in financial inclusion within the 

                                       
42 The proposed Welsh Language Measure was introduced by the Minister for 
Heritage on 4 March 2010.  At the time of this report’s publication, the Measure was 
being considered by the National Assembly for Wales. 
43 CC(3) FI 27 

Page 56



28 
 

Financial Inclusion Strategy, but suggested that the number of 

disabled people receiving financial education is low.44 

 The issue of ensuring that those who lack basic skills also had 64.

access to financial education was raised by the coordinator of the 

North Wales Financial Capability forum, Les Cooper, as well as 

Consumer Focus Wales.  Les Cooper noted that, in his opinion, the 

resources and methods that are currently used to increase financial 

capability “do not address the basic skills challenges we have in 

Wales.”45 However, in response to this concern, the Minister for 

Children, Education and Lifelong Learning stated that: 

“Through work led by the Welsh Assembly Government’s Basic 

Skills Unit, learning providers have been given access to 

teaching resources designed to improve the financial literacy of 

learners with poor basic skills.”46 

 Consumer Focus Wales suggested that the face-to-face element of 65.

the Moneymadeclear service should be targeted, initially at least, at 

low-income families, young people and other vulnerable groups when 

it expands to cover all of Wales. 

 Particular difficulties that may be experienced by those in the 66.

care system were highlighted by Consumer Focus Wales: 

“children and young people’s experiences of money matters at 

home and school will vary considerably.  Children within the 

care system are likely to be particularly disadvantaged in this 

area.  The instability caused by moving in and out of care 

placements, often leading to them changing schools on a 

regular basis, can mean they often miss out on the 

opportunities other children have to learn about money 

matters.”47 

 Consumer Focus Wales went on to note that it is carrying out 67.

specific research on financial exclusion amongst young care leavers, 

due to be completed early in 2011. 

                                       
44 CC(3) FI 27 
45 CC(3) FI 03 
46 CC(3) AWE 08 Minister for Children, Education and Lifelong Learning following 
issues raised at evidence session 8 July 
47 CC(3) FI 14 

Page 57



29 
 

 The YWCA stressed the importance of services to help women as 68.

they felt that the economic situation would disproportionately affect 

women: 

“women are more likely to be poor, earn less, work in low paid 

employment and have the highest risk of financial problems… 

We think that current financial education provision does not 

always take into account the specific financial inclusion barriers 

faced by girls and women.”48 

 Indeed, Bethan Jenkins AM asserted concerns around the 69.

provision of financial education to women street workers, 

commenting that “according to research undertaken at the university 

[of Swansea], women who work on the streets of Wales are not getting 

that support.”49
 

Gaps in provision due to a lack of strategic co-ordination 

 A number of witnesses suggested there were gaps in the 70.

provision of financial education in the community because of a lack of 

strategic co-ordination.  For example, the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and Wales suggested that current services 

were not sufficiently “joined up.”50 Scope echoed these concerns and 

noted that “there is a need for strategic co-ordination of the various 

sectors that provide financial education.”51 

 Witnesses suggested that at a national level the CFEB and Welsh 71.

Government had a clear role in coordinating the provision of financial 

education in Wales.  For example Consumer Focus Wales commented 

that: 

“there is a role for the Welsh Assembly Government to co-

ordinate the financial capability work being delivered at the 

local level to ensure appropriate links are made between local 

and national programmes.”52 

 The establishment of the WFEU was perceived by a number of 72.

witnesses as a valuable step in enabling the Welsh Government to 

                                       
48 CC(3) FI 21 
49 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 8 July 2010, Para 124 
50 CC(3) FI 05 
51 CC(3) FI 27 
52 CC(3) FI 14 

Page 58



30 
 

perform this role, although Consumer Focus Wales expressed concerns 

that: 

“the future role and funding of the Unit is uncertain after April 

2011. We would urge that the Committee recommend that the 

strategic role of this Unit is sustained and built on over the 

coming years to help improve the delivery of financial 

education both in schools and within the wider community.”53 

 We welcome the valuable work of the WFEU, which was praised by 73.

a range of our witnesses.  In the current economic climate, we believe 

that it is imperative that the unit’s work is sustained and developed to 

encompass improving the delivery of financial education both in 

schools and more broadly in the community. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government make a public 

commitment that it will seek to ensure that the strategic role of 

the Wales Financial Education Unit is sustained and developed to 

help improve the provision of financial education both in schools 

and within the wider community. 
 

 Katija Dew also suggested that the Welsh Government could 74.

complement the work of the WFEU by providing a ‘central hub’ of 

information on financial capability projects, to supplement the work of 

financial capability forums in sharing good practice, commenting that 

there is currently: 

“no central system for sharing good practice. The financial 

inclusion champions team that I described is a small team, and 

we share good practice between ourselves. We seek to replicate 

good practice that we see in the south up in the north, and vice 

versa. However, there is no official system.”54 

 Indeed, she commented that a lack of systems for monitoring the 75.

provision of financial education made it: 

“difficult to evaluate which methods are most effective. By 

definition monitoring and evaluation of this kind of activity is 

                                       
53 CC(3) FI 14 
54 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 17 

Page 59



31 
 

very difficult and needs to be undertaken on a longitudinal 

basis to be most effective.”55 

 We agree that a central information point on the different 76.

financial education and capability projects already taking place in 

Wales would provide a useful tool in facilitating the sharing of good 

practice.  As noted in the following sub-chapter (provision through 

education settings) we also believe that such a resource could usefully 

help schools in identifying potential partners to assist them in 

delivering financial education, and could help schools to determine 

appropriate existing resources for the provision of financial education. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government provide a ‘central hub’ 

of information about financial capability projects, and giving 

monitoring and evaluation guidance for the design and 

implementation of new projects and services. We anticipate that 

this would also include a directory of existing resources which it 

considered suitable for schools to utilise in providing financial 

education.  We anticipate that this would facilitate the sharing of 

good practice, and would also enable schools to quickly identify 

and develop links with potential partners for the delivery of 

financial education in their local areas. 
 

 The Welsh Government’s Financial Inclusion Strategy was 77.

published in July 2009, and was generally welcomed by witnesses in 

their evidence, with the caveat that it was still very early to evaluate its 

effectiveness. However, the Welsh Government was seen to be taking 

action to co-ordinate its own policies to enable the provision of 

financial education and to promote financial inclusion, with the 

Minister for Social Justice commenting that the Welsh Government had:  

“worked with CFEB on the development of our Domestic Abuse 

Strategy ‘The Right to be Safe’ which highlights the importance 

of improving the financial capability of those experiencing 

domestic abuse.  As a result face-to-face Money Guidance is 

already being delivered to the Merthyr Tydfil and Blaenau 

Gwent Domestic Abuse one stop shops.”56 

 Researchers from Swansea University also praised the strategy for 78.

focusing on tackling inequality and said that: 

                                       
55 CC(3) FI 08 
56 CC(3) FI 30 

Page 60



32 
 

“The policy is clearly correct to focus on locally shaped 

initiatives drawing on the communally sensitive, context rich 

experiences and expertise of those involved in, for example, 

Credit Unions.”57 

 On a more critical note, YWCA felt that the strategy should have 79.

more focus on women and girls, commenting that they had “wanted to 

see more emphasis on girls and women in the Financial Inclusion 

Strategy and in financial education activity.”58  Concerns were also 

raised over how the delivery of the strategy would be monitored, with 

the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 

commenting that this part of the strategy was: “somewhat weak - with 

baselines discussed but not established.”59  

 Witnesses also suggested that the Welsh Government could take 80.

on a greater role in co-ordinating the private sector’s engagement in 

financial education, bearing in mind that pressure on public funds was 

only likely to increase in future years.  Katija Dew, for example, 

recommended that the Welsh Government should: 

“Engage more with existing provision by the private sector. For 

example, some banks/building societies provide resources to 

support this agenda e.g. Nationwide’s’ ‘Education Resource’ 

and Barclays’ ‘MoneySkills. In tandem, pull together publicly 

funded initiatives such as those on digital inclusion, one-stop-

shops, domestic violence, Communities First, housing, spatial 

plans with financial inclusion to provide substantial 

synergies.”60 

 Citizens’ Advice Cymru also noted the important role of the 81.

private sector and other stakeholders in funding and facilitating its 

financial capability work, commenting that: 

“The financial sector is a major supporter of our financial 

capability work… a Range of national and local public sector 

agencies, charitable trusts and housing associations also 

provide important support.61  

                                       
57 CC(3) FI 07 
58 CC(3) FI 21 
59 CC(3) FI 05 
60 CC(3) FI 08 
61 CC(3) FI 16 

Page 61



33 
 

 However, CAB Cymru went on to note some concerns about 82.

organisations such as credit unions and Community Development 

Finance Institutions like Moneyline Cymru providing debt advice to 

customers who were also borrowing money from them.  They 

highlighted this ‘dual function’ as a concern and a potential conflict of 

interests. 

 Swansea’s Financial Inclusion steering group suggested the 83.

involvement of banks in should be mandatory, with a statutory 

requirement to fund financial advice programmes - co-ordinated 

centrally by the Welsh Government.62 

 In its written evidence the Welsh Government noted that the 84.

British Bankers Association is a member of its financial inclusion 

steering group.  We consider that such forums provide a useful 

opportunity for encouraging financial institutions to engage in the 

provision of financial education programmes, bearing in mind the 

inevitable pressures on public funds in the current economic climate. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government, through forums such 

as the financial inclusion steering group, and in association with 

the UK Government, encourage financial organisations to provide 

funds for independent organisations to provide financial 

education programmes. 
 

 Witnesses also suggested that private companies could be better 85.

engaged in the financial education agenda, particularly in terms of 

supporting their own workforces.  For example, Katija Dew 

commented that: 

“there is room in the wider private sector for individual 

organisations and businesses to engage more with the financial 

exclusion agenda. After all, they have workforces that may or 

may not be financially excluded.”63 

 Notably, the CFEB acknowledged that the delivery of workplace-86.

based financial education seminars relied on employers being willing 

to provide their staff with an opportunity to receive such information.  

The CFEB commented that public sector companies could also be more 

active in promoting the financial education agenda, noting that: 

                                       
62 CC(3) FI 19 
63 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 49 

Page 62



34 
 

“Authorities work in the community and provide local services, 

but they are also employers. So, for example, Cardiff [council] 

employs 18,500 people, which is quite a chunk. So, what we 

tried to do was to provide financial education in the workplace, 

which was available to all council employees in Cardiff. We held 

a face-to-face seminar and every member of staff in Cardiff 

council also received one of our yellow booklets, ‘Making the 

Most of your Money’, which highlights a range of issues from 

budgeting through to insurance, borrowing, saving and 

retirement, which are the basics that you need to understand. 

So, Cardiff sent that booklet out to its 18,500 staff. So that is 

an example of a local authority working on this issue as an 

employer.”64 

 We consider that work-place based seminars are a valuable tool in 87.

enabling the provision of financial education. Bearing in mind that 

public resources have been invested in enabling the development of 

this tool, we consider it to be imperative that it is used to maximum 

efficiency, and that employers actively encourage and facilitate their 

staff in attending such seminars.  Bearing in mind the wide ranging 

impacts of financial capability, noted earlier in this report, this may 

also enable employers to provide their employees with an improved 

quality of life at very minimal cost.  

We recommend that the Welsh Government engage with both 

public and private sector employers to encourage them to 

facilitate the participation of their employees in workplace based 

financial education seminars, and in receiving financial education 

resources. 
 

 Our witnesses were more critical of the co-ordination of services 88.

at a local level.  For example, Caerphilly County Borough Council 

highlighted a number of barriers to financial inclusion that existed 

within the borough, including lack of provision of financial and debt 

advice services, because of a lack of “joined-up services” 65 within the 

sector. Moreover, far from indicating that Caerphilly was an isolated 

example of a region where services were not being co-ordinated, the 

evidence we received in our inquiry suggested that services in 

                                       
64 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 185  
65 CC(3) FI 10 

Page 63



35 
 

Caerphilly were actually more joined-up than in other areas in Wales. 

For example, Citizens Advice Cymru commented to us that: 

“in Caerphilly, there is really good co-operation between the 

housing department and the local CAB, which provides debt 

clinics in the housing department. The housing department has 

just written a report to the full council suggesting that the 

amount of money that it has saved through evictions that have 

not happened because of that service is more than the cost of 

its funding for that particular service through the CAB. That 

sort of co-operation demonstrates that it really recognises how 

important it is, and refers people, in that case, not just for debt 

advice but also for financial capability. That is the sort of co-

operation that it would be lovely to see absolutely everywhere. 

However, it is not like that everywhere.”66 

 Several witnesses suggested that local authorities should have the 89.

lead responsibility for co-ordinating the provision of financial 

education in their local areas.  Rhondda Housing Association noted 

that it believed there was a role for local government (rather than 

central government) in co-ordinating the provision of financial 

education in order to “cater for the needs of communities… one size 

will not fit all in this area.”67 Likewise, Scope commented that: 

“We agree with the [Financial Inclusion Strategy’s] assertion that 

local authorities have the potential to play a huge role in 

promoting financial inclusion in Wales and hope to see the 

Welsh… Government take a lead on moving this agenda and 

the strategy forwards.”68 

 The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) noted the 90.

involvement of local authorities in financial education, and the 

valuable position that authorities are placed in as a result of their day-

day-contact with individuals to both identify people in need of financial 

education and signpost them to it.  In particular, they stated that 

frameworks already exist to enable local authorities to bring different 

organisations together in strategic partnerships: for example through 

community planning, the voluntary sector compact agreement, the 

Local Service Board and Community First Partnerships. This point was 

                                       
66 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 24 June 2010, Para 114 
67 CC(3) FI 02 
68 CC(3) FI 27 

Page 64



36 
 

echoed by Shelter Cymru who described local authorities as key 

“problem noticers.”69 

 Indeed, we received a significant body of evidence on the positive 91.

work local authorities were already doing to promote financial 

inclusion, including their own local strategies.  For example, Caerphilly 

County Borough Council noted that it had conducted an anti-poverty 

audit within the borough to inform a task and finish group to promote 

financial inclusion.70 

 However, other witnesses were concerned that local authorities 92.

were not consistently engaged in the provision of financial education 

and financial inclusion, because it was not a statutory responsibility.  

The YWCA noted that: 

“the Financial Inclusion Strategy makes recommendations for 

local authorities, but is unclear as to action which local 

authorities must take.  We believe the Assembly and the WLGA 

should provide strategic guidance or direction.”71 

 Perhaps as a consequence of this, the Mid, West and South Wales 93.

Financial Capability Forum had found that although: 

“We do invite local authorities and speak with them to try to get 

them engaged in the financial capability fora… we have poor 

attendance. Typically, when we talk, I find that we get a 

response such as, ‘Yes, we are interested, and we need to get 

involved in this’ but then nothing happens.”72 

 Similarly, the North Wales Financial Capability Forum’s co-94.

ordinator commented that: 

“You would think that it would sit naturally within their social 

exclusion agenda, but that is pretty packed anyway. You have 

to get to an individual, persuade and encourage him or her, 

and maybe see it grow from there. If chief executives were 

somehow to have their arms twisted to be more proactive, that 

would filter down through the ranks. I know that, once we have 

                                       
69 CC(3) FI 12 
70 CC(3) FI 10 
71 CC(3) FI 21 
72 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 10 June 2010, Para 141  

Page 65



37 
 

the business forum agenda, we could do so much more than 

we are achieving now.”73 

 Indeed, Katija Dew commented that: 95.

“One of our challenges, however, is that there is still no 

statutory responsibility in respect of financial inclusion. So, 

what we try to do is to piggyback those concepts onto other 

areas where there is responsibility, for example, in the child 

poverty agenda, the homelessness agenda and so on. We try to 

transpose it onto some of those things. However, having that 

responsibility would make things a lot easier, and it would be 

easier for stakeholders who want to engage to be able to fit 

these things into the way that they work.”74 

 Similarly, the CFEB commented that: 96.

“The financial inclusion strategy was particularly timely and 

added a lot of momentum, but it is not statutory, so it depends 

on a lot of people’s goodwill and an awful lot of persuasion and 

influence through the Welsh Assembly Government team, and 

no stick, so to speak. That means that if it is not on some 

people’s priority list, it does not happen. Perhaps there is a way 

of adding some kind of statutory duty to local authorities or 

others, as that would help.”75 

 We greatly welcome the efforts made by a significant number of 97.

local authorities to address financial inclusion and promote financial 

education.  However, we are also concerned by other evidence received 

in this inquiry which suggests that other local authorities have not 

been engaged in this work.  We did consider recommending that the 

Welsh Government place a new statutory duty on local authorities to 

address financial inclusion and financial education.  However, we 

believe that existing statutory responsibilities on local authorities for 

example in relation to addressing child poverty, health, social care and 

wellbeing- can be advanced by addressing financial inclusion and 

financial education. We believe the Welsh Government could usefully 

highlight this fact, and suggest that the co-ordination of work on 

financial inclusion and financial education could be progressed by 

                                       
73 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 22 April 2010, Para 54 
74 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee,20 May 2010, Para 59 
75 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee,20 May 2010, Para 204 

Page 66



38 
 

being taken on as a key responsibility  for senior individuals in local 

government. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government engage with local 

authorities across Wales to highlight the cross-cutting value of 

addressing financial inclusion and financial education as part of 

their existing statutory responsibilities.  We anticipate that as part 

of this, the Welsh Government would encourage individual local 

authorities and housing associations to identify senior individuals 

to have an overarching responsibility for financial inclusion and 

financial education work, across the authority/association.   
 

Page 67



39 
 

Provision through education settings 

 A range of witnesses advocated to us the potential benefits of 98.

providing a financial education within traditional educational settings 

(such as schools), with the North Wales Financial Inclusion forum co-

ordinator commenting that: 

“if you can enthuse young people, particularly in schools, about 

money management, they will take it home. They will take it 

home and they will talk to mum and dad about, ‘Why are you 

borrowing from the Provident, did you know that it is costing 

you x times more than more traditional methods?”76 

 The Minister for Social Justice and Local Government noted in his 99.

written evidence that financial education is part of the National 

Curriculum for 7 to 16 year olds.  Moreover, aspects of financial 

education are included in GCSE mathematics and the Personal and 

Social Education (PSE) framework for 7 to 19 year olds.77 

 A number of consultees made reference to the work of the Welsh 100.

Financial Education Unit, which was established by the Welsh 

Government in partnership with the CFEB.  The Minister noted that: 

“The Unit is initially working with practitioners in schools, local 

authorities and the further education sector to support the 

provision of financial education for 7 to 19 year olds in full 

time learning. The Unit has set out a two year programme of 

work […] aimed at supporting practitioners in primary and 

secondary schools so that they are able to provide a planned 

and co-ordinated programme of financial education that equips 

learners to manage their finances and make informed financial 

decisions.”78 

 In additional written evidence received from the Welsh 101.

Government, the Minister for Children, Education and Lifelong 

Learning noted that an independent evaluation of the Unit would be 

commissioned and completed by April 2011. 

                                       
76 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 22 April 2010, Para 67.  This method of 
spreading financial education through family networks appeared to be supported by 
evidence from respondents to the Committee’s financial education questionnaire, 
with 60% of respondents identifying family and friends as a provider of financial 
education, more than any other source.  
77 CC(3) FI 30 
78 CC(3) FI 30 

Page 68



40 
 

The priority of financial education in the school curriculum 

 However, a number of witnesses suggested to us that financial 102.

education needed to have a greater priority in the curriculum, with 

Shelter Cymru commenting that: 

“The current PSE framework in schools does provide 

opportunities to teach young people about financial issues but 

it’s not compulsory for teachers to address every single 

element of the framework.”79 

 Similarly, the Association of British Credit Unions stated that: 103.

“It is very important for schools to meet their thresholds and all 

their education targets. If this is not up there with getting 30 

per cent in English and mathematics, it takes a lower priority.”80 

 Several schools in Wales provide pupils with the opportunity to 104.

study towards gaining qualifications from the IFS School of Finance.  

During his rapporteur visit, pupils at Ysgol y Berwyn told Mark 

Isherwood AM that they were studying for such qualifications because 

while “there is some provision in maths, physics (bills) and PSE… [there 

was] not enough”81 opportunity to gain a financial education elsewhere 

in the curriculum.  

 Indeed, the co-ordinator of the North Wales Financial Capability 105.

Forum, recommended that financial education in schools should be 

given greater status by “elevating financial education in schools to a 

GCSE subject.”82 

 However, the Financial Services Authority suggested that: 106.

“in Wales—unlike England, I am sad to say—financial education 

is now embedded in the curriculum. I suspect that that is 

because the profile of financial education in schools has been 

raised. That has been adopted by the Welsh Assembly 

Government as something that it is important to ensure that all 

children receive consistently across Wales. The resources that 

are available to support the Welsh Financial Education Unit are 

                                       
79 CC(3) FI 12 
80 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 24 June 2010, Para 34 
81 CC(3) AWE 05 Note of Members visit to Ysgol y Berwyn 
82 CC(3) FI 03 

Page 69



41 
 

inevitably finite. We would like to see more resources made 

available and we may need to lever them in from elsewhere.”83 

 Nevertheless, a number of witnesses and consultees considered 107.

that the provision of financial education in schools in Wales was still 

not ideal, with the Association of Teachers and Lecturers suggesting 

that the amount of school time devoted to financial education was too 

limited because of curriculum pressure. 

 We are conscious that the PSE framework is already under 108.

pressure to deliver on multiple key issues.  Nevertheless, we believe 

financial education needs to be given a clear priority within this 

framework, by the Welsh Government, given the ramifications of 

financial education for material, emotional and mental health. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government ensures that the 

provision of financial education is a compulsory element of the 

PSE framework, and reviews the emphasis placed on financial 

education on a regular basis. 

Provision of resources for delivering financial education in schools 

 The Minister for Children, Education and Lifelong Learning 109.

advised us that the: 

“WFEU is able to provide advice on the opportunities available.  

The FSA- now CFEB- and most banks have produced materials for 

use in primary and secondary schools and in some instances have 

staff members trained to work with teachers in the delivery of 

financial education.  The resources are provided free of charge.  

Most are also on-line, so that they can be easily accessed by 

schools.  One of the targets set for WFEU has been to work with 

the financial services sector to ensure that material is increasingly 

available in both English and Welsh.”84 

 However, the Association of Teachers and Lecturers commented 110.

that: 

“One member reported that in their school financial education 

in school currently involves downloading materials from 

various major financial institutions’ websites which are then 

                                       
83 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 163 
84 CC(3) AWE 08 Minister for Children, Education and Lifelong Learning following 
issues raised at evidence session 8 July 

Page 70



42 
 

adapted to fit the timetabled PSE slot. Clear guidelines are 

needed and adequately resourced training for teachers.  'Pure' 

resources that are not tainted by financial institutions overt or 

covert advertising are necessary.”85 

 We are concerned by this apparent contradiction in our evidence, 111.

and consider that the Welsh Government could usefully provide clear 

direction to schools on which resources it considers suitable for 

utilising in financial education lessons.  We have sought to address 

this issue in recommendation 4, which calls for a ‘central hub’ of 

information to include a directory of approved resources for the 

provision of financial education in school.  

Who delivers financial education in education settings? 

 There was some debate between witnesses over who was best 112.

placed to deliver financial education in schools.  For example, the 

North Wales Financial Capability Forum co-ordinator suggested that: 

“If you rely on the existing school staff to do it, it will get 

watered down, because a lot of them do not themselves 

understand money enough to feel confident when they talk 

about money issues… It is all well and good having the 

programmes, as sophisticated and potentially brilliant as they 

are, but how you deliver them on the ground is the real 

challenge and that is where the resources come in.”86 

 Similarly, when Bethan Jenkins AM visited Swansea Citizens Advice 113.

Bureau, she heard that “teachers aren’t always confident to teach it, 

they don’t always know how to approach the subject and can’t assume 

they are financially capable themselves.”87 

 However, other witnesses considered that teachers were better 114.

placed to deliver financial education than external agents, because 

such external parties would: 

                                       
85 CC(3) FI 04 
86 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 22 April 2010, Para 23 
87 CC(3) AWE 09 Note of Member visit to Swansea Citizen’s Advice Bureau 

Page 71



43 
 

“not know the particular needs of that group of young people… 

the information could be tailored by using the people who 

know those receiving the information.”88  

 Notably, the Welsh Government’s Welsh Financial Education Unit 115.

was established in partnership with the FSA (now the CFEB) as many 

teachers felt they did not have the confidence to teach this part of the 

curriculum.89 Many consultees made reference to the important role 

that the unit plays in supporting schools and local authorities in the 

provision of financial education. The CFEB noted that an evaluation has 

been made of the best way for WFEU development officers to train 

teachers in the delivery of effective financial education, which: 

“indicated that a blended approach of out of school training, 

and using pre-existing PSE/Mathematics training events, to be 

the most effective way of supporting teachers in Wales.”90 

 A common ‘middle ground’ amongst witnesses’ views on this 116.

issue was therefore for teachers to be responsible for delivering 

financial education, with the support of the WFEU and other external 

agencies.  For example, Association of British Credit Union Limited 

(ABCUL) noted that many credit unions are involved in delivering 

financial education in schools, mainly primary schools.  ABCUL 

highlighted the fact that financial education has been placed within the 

school curriculum in Wales, and this is an example that should be 

followed elsewhere.91 Similarly, the CFEB noted that: 

“a lot of agencies go into schools and help and support 

teachers by delivering more relevant information and case 

studies from the local environment and communities. We are 

trying to encourage the embedding of that as part of the wider 

learning at the school. The teacher has the educational 

knowledge and is able to link all that experience that is coming 

in to the wider curriculum across the school. For example, 

representatives of a citizens advice bureau may go in and talk 

about real-life debt, how that might work and what it might 

look like. That could be filtered into a maths lesson to make it 

more relevant, or into a personal and social education lesson, 

                                       
88 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 102 
89 CC(3) FI 22 
90 CC(3) AWE 07 CFEB following oral evidence session on 20 May 
91 CC(3) FI 23 

Page 72



44 
 

where you could look at real experiences in the community. We 

need teachers who feel comfortable in delivering that, but who 

can also support the people who are coming in and make it a 

much more sustainable educational experience. If you come in 

from an external organisation and do a lesson with a class, you 

might have 30 minutes with 30 children and young people, and 

then you go away again. We would like for the teacher to pick 

that experience up and make it more sustainable, so that a 

confident teacher who understands the issues and is 

comfortable in teaching the subject can then be with those 30 

children the next week, the week after, and the week after that, 

and next year. That may not happen with an organisation 

coming in. Such an organisation may not understand 

educational outcomes and how they might work in the 

classroom, and it may not understand the young people it deals 

with for those 30 minutes… it is no good the Financial Services 

Authority or the Consumer Financial Education Body trying to 

get in to schools to deliver these programmes; they have to be 

delivered by teachers.”92 

 We concur with this analysis, and consider that financial 117.

education can be best delivered through a partnership approach of 

teachers and external agencies.  Indeed, we had the opportunity to 

observe practical applications of such partnership working.  During her 

visit to Swansea Citizens Advice Bureau, Bethan Jenkins AM heard that 

the bureau had: 

“worked with 22 schools, they have tailored workshops to suit 

children of varying ages – very positive feedback and they have 

been asked to go back to provide further workshops… CAB has 

links with school councils. Every school council has a treasurer 

and CAB have helped them open back accounts…. Tuck shops 

in schools are run by the school councils and CAB has provided 

business workshops and offer help with business plans.”93 

 Similarly, Members visiting Ysgol y Bryn Gwalia, which had 118.

developed a partnership with the all-Flintshire credit union, heard from 

students how they had gathered a financial education from the credit 

union’s presence at the school.  Pupils commented that they had 

                                       
92 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 171-4 
93 CC(3) AWE 09 Note of Members visit to Swansea Citizens Advice Bureau 

Page 73



45 
 

already changed their financial habits as a result of this education, 

noting that it: 

“stops you thinking all the time that you have to spend – able 

to save for what you really want… used to buy things that I 

wouldn’t use again – now in the habit of saving for when I am 

older… you are not just wasting it on cheap toys, but saving for 

more important things like football.”94 

 We were concerned by evidence taken which suggested that some 119.

schools were not aware of potential partners with whom they could 

work with to provide financial education. For example, Mark Isherwood 

AM heard, during his visit to Ysgol y Berwyn, that although “the school 

was eager to know more about the possibility of working with the 

Credit Unions, they are not aware of any such scheme currently in the 

area.”95  However, the Welsh Government stated that it was already 

taking steps so that: 

“guidance, to be produced by WFEU on financial education for 

7-19 year olds, will include information on the opportunities for 

learning providers in Wales to enhance learning through 

partnership with the financial services sector, credit unions and 

the Citizens Advice service.96 

 We consider that the Welsh Government could usefully 120.

complement its guidance on financial education for 7-19 years olds by 

enabling schools to quickly identify and develop links with potential 

partners through a ‘central hub’ of information.  We have incorporated 

this suggestion into recommendation 4. 

Monitoring of external agencies supporting teachers 

 Several witnesses also suggested that external agencies who were 121.

involved in the provision of financial education, through educational 

settings should be monitored.  For example, Shelter Cymru were 

concerned that: 

“There is a role for banks, but we are trying to emphasise the 

point that they are private companies, ultimately, and so they 

                                       
94 CC(3) AWE 04 Note of Members Rapporteur visit to Ysgol y Bryn Gwalia 
95 CC(3) AWE 05 Note of Member Rapporteur visit to Ysgol y Berwyn 
96 CC(3) AWE 08 Minister for Children, Education and Lifelong Learning following 
issues raised at evidence session 8 July 

Page 74



46 
 

may have an agenda. They may not necessarily be going in to 

talk about financial education. They will touch on it, but, 

ultimately, it may be a case of their saying, ‘You can save, so 

why not save with us?’ We are concerned that that would be a 

little biased and not an independent service. That is not to say 

that we do not support an approach from banks.”97 

 More broadly, Jane Wynne, co-ordinator for the Mid, South and 122.

West Wales Financial Forum commented that: 

“there are a lot of partners and organisations out there now, as 

I say, several years on, picking up financial capability and 

running with it and trying to do their own training, if you like... 

Over and above that, an organisation like the FSA should say—

and I am sure that they probably do not want to be given this 

role—‘What are you taking out there? What are you teaching 

and what is the quality of that work?’ I think that is very 

important.”98 

 We believe that there is an important role for external agencies to 123.

engage in the provision of financial education, and believe that- 

particularly in the current financial climate- there should be a priority 

placed on encouraging such.  However, we also believe that there is a 

need to monitor and regulate such provision, and consider that the 

Welsh Government could usefully engage Estyn in examining this 

issue. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government invite Estyn to 

consider whether the standards of financial education delivered in 

schools, including provision delivered through external agencies, 

are adequately promoted and monitored. 

 

Provision through a media campaign 

 Several of our witnesses suggested in oral evidence that the 124.

profile of financial education could usefully be raised through a media 

campaign, aimed at tackling the perspective that financial education 

was only required by people in debt or with ‘money problems.’  The 

North Wales Financial Capability Forum co-ordinator commented, for 

example that: 

                                       
97 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 107 
98 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 10 June 2010, Para 114  

Page 75



47 
 

“We need people to see it on the television, in the newspapers 

and on the radio. We need them to pick up on images, 

straplines and buzzwords about money, and how, if you 

manage it, you get a much better deal, and, if you do not 

manage it, something nasty might happen but you are not on 

your own. There are a lot of people out there who can help you 

with little bits of it, from the FSA to your next-door neighbour. 

If financial capability is going to work in the long term, it has to 

be embedded, particularly on our social housing estates… we 

also need to put it into a context whereby people feel 

comfortable talking to anyone about money, just like they talk 

about football.”99
 

 Katija Dew agreed that financial education was needed by 125.

everyone, commenting that: 

“people who are seen to be haves, as opposed to have-nots, 

often end up being have-nots because they cannot manage 

their money properly. So, people who are on a moderate 

income or a lower moderate income end up on a low 

disposable income because the parameters of financial 

exclusion stop them from making the most of their money and 

therefore being able to make choices. So, they end up on a 

lower income than people who might be seen as have-nots.”100
 

 We concur with this analysis, and consider that a media campaign 126.

could help to increase knowledge about the meanings of jargon 

commonly used in financial advertising.  Notably only 29.3% of 

respondents to our questionnaire stated that they were confident that 

they knew what terms like ‘APR’ and ‘AER’ meant.101  We also believe a 

campaign could be progressed through local authorities’ monthly or 

quarterly reports, with Joyce Watson AM asking: 

“Do you agree that it is not beyond the bounds of reason for 

them (LAs) to pose some very simple questions on the back 

when they send out those reports? The taxpayer is paying for it 

anyway and it goes out, sometimes quarterly and sometimes 

annually, so why not pose some very simple questions on the 

                                       
99

 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 22 April 2010, Para 46-47 
100 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010,  Para 47 
101 Responses to Committee’s questionnaire. 

Page 76



48 
 

back? It links to your media campaign, but on a local level. You 

could ask people whether they are likely to be able to claim.”102 

We recommend that the Welsh Government consider undertaking a 

sustained media campaign to help people to understand the 

benefits of financial inclusion and education, and how they can 

access support and financial services (including basic bank 

accounts and home contents insurance) locally, working with 

stakeholders at local and national levels.  

 However, we also recognise that financial education will be a long 127.

term objective, rather than a ‘quick win.’  Indeed, a number of our 

witnesses suggested that people’s problems with financial 

management can stem not solely from a lack of information, but also 

from a whole host of competing and often contradictory sources which 

can “overwhelm”103 people. For example, one respondent to our 

questionnaire criticised:  

“the confusing 'advertisement culture'… the 'up-to' culture… 

they advertise something but in reality they are deceiving 

people.”104
  

 Similarly, the ABCUL commented that: 128.

“Everything that we have in our society smacks of easy credit—

‘Get it now’, ‘Buy now; worry about it later’—so to encourage 

saving is counter-cultural. My partner is a head teacher, and 

she said that I can talk as much as I like about financial 

education, but it is hard to do. Everything that children are 

hearing, 24 hours a day, is pushing things in the opposite 

direction.”105 

 

 

                                       
102 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 22 April 2010, Para 103 
103 CC(3) FI 07 
104 Responses to Committee questionnaire 
105 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 24 June 2010, Para 17 

Page 77



49 
 

2. Financial inclusion- access to financial services 

 Although our inquiry was focused upon the impact of financial 129.

education, a range of witnesses commented that financial education 

had to be complemented by access to financial services  for it to be 

effective.  For example, although Community Housing Cymru observed 

that “we can all go through times in our lives when we are financially 

excluded but, if we are financially capable and we have the education 

to weather that, we can come out the other side,”106 they also asserted 

that: 

“even if awareness, knowledge and education were perfect in 

this country tomorrow, and we waved a magic wand on that, 

you still have this issue of choice. Unless we can increase the 

products available for people who are currently not served, we 

are not giving them a choice, and knowledge without choice 

can be pretty meaningless.”107
 

 Similarly, the CFEB noted that: 130.

“Without greater access to financial services the vision of 

financial inclusion in Wales will not be achieved… Financial 

education can reduce reliance for some on doorstep lenders to 

a certain extent but will have very little impact unless 

accessible, affordable alternatives exist and are well 

marketed.”108 

 The co-ordinator of the Mid, West and South Wales Financial 131.

Capability Forum also commented that it was valuable to link financial 

education with accessible financial services, suggesting that: 

“financial education provided should be inclusive of subject 

areas such as accessing and using appropriate financial 

products and services – often subjects offered are restricted to 

budgeting and borrowing.”109 

 Similarly, Swansea’s Financial Inclusion Steering Group 132.

emphasised that it is not simply enough to give people the skills they 

                                       
106 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 10 June 2010, Para 15 
107 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 10 June 2010, Para 78 
108 CC(3) FI 22  
109 CC(3) FI 28 

Page 78



50 
 

need to manage their money, they also need to be able to access 

suitable services and products.  We concur with this analysis, 

recognising that there is little point in enabling people with the skills 

to select a financial service appropriate to their needs, if they are 

denied the ability to access a suitable product or service. 

Access to basic bank accounts 

 Les Cooper, co-ordinator of the North Wales Financial Capability 133.

Forum, noted that the forum’s experience shows that in some bank 

branches there is no information about basic bank accounts in public 

areas.  He commented that: 

“head office, the people at the top, will sign up to initiatives, 

they will support Government programmes and commit their 

organisations to the financial capability process. The problem 

is that that information does not filter down to counter level. 

The current take-up of bank accounts is quite high; I think that 

92 per cent is pretty good. For the remaining 8 per cent, there 

will be a whole raft of reasons why those people are not taking 

out basic bank accounts. [61] The head office signs up to basic 

bank accounts as a great idea, but when you go into local 

branches—and I visited some in Wrexham recently—you see 

that there is not a single leaflet about them. If people go up to 

the counter and ask to open an account, they are immediately 

offered a current account, because the counter staff get 

commission for opening those kinds of accounts. Basic bank 

accounts are not even referred to. The lack of communication 

across all levels is a contributory factor.”110 

 Similarly, the Department for Work and Pensions’ National 134.

Financial Inclusion Champion for Wales commented that:  

“There are still difficulties in obtaining basic bank accounts. We 

are trying to monitor that centrally, via the financial inclusion 

champion initiative. There are several problems with this… the 

banks really need to take their responsibilities on board, and 

we are working on high-level policy on this matter over the 

border.”111 

 Likewise, the Citizens’ Advice Cymru commented that banks: 135.
                                       
110 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 22 April 2010, Para 60  
111 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 55 

Page 79



51 
 

 

“also have a duty to ensure that their services are available to 

everyone; credit unions are very good at that and some of the 

banks are very bad at it. Basic bank accounts are supposed to 

be available to everyone, but some of our clients continue to 

experience difficulties in opening a basic bank account. So, 

they are the sorts of basic things that they could do. They 

could improve their customer relations in that way. As someone 

who started their career on benefits and virtually no income, I 

am still with the same bank, which is doing very nicely, thank 

you, out of me now… So, it is quite short-sighted of some parts 

of the credit industry to be so reluctant to provide services to 

people who are vulnerable and in poverty right now, because 

those people will move on in their lives.”112 

 In its written evidence, Barclays noted that it has over 800,000 136.

customers using its Basic Bank Account, and almost 50,000 of these 

are in deprived parts of the UK.  However, it went on to note that its 

basic bank account was “one of only two accounts available on the 

high street that is open to undischarged bankrupts and therefore 

accessible to anyone without a history of fraud.”113 

 We welcome the provision of basic bank accounts by Barclays and 137.

other financial service providers.  However, we consider that the Welsh 

Government could usefully engage other major banks in encouraging 

them to actively promote such services in local branches. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government continue to engage 

with high street banks to take a more positive approach to the 

opening of basic bank accounts.  

 

Post offices 

 Age Cymru noted that post offices can play a major role in 138.

accessing financial services for older people: 

“The Post Office can play a vital role in areas where there is 

difficulty in accessing banks and other financial services.  In 

                                       
112 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 24 June 2010, Para 121 
113 CC(3) FI 11 

Page 80



52 
 

many cases, post offices are a key service that helps both rural 

and urban communities remain viable.”114 

 ABCUL also highlighted the role played by post offices, and noted 139.

the plans to offer credit union services through the post office 

network: 

“Through linking to the back-office, members would be able to 

use any credit union’s services at any PO branch providing a 

true affordable alternative to many and benefiting the 

sustainability of both credit unions and the Post Office 

network.”115 

 We welcome this innovative link-up between the Post Office and 140.

credit unions, and look forward to it developing further. 

Credit Unions 

 ABCUL pointed out that credit unions were both a provider of 141.

accessible financial services, and had a statutory obligation to provide 

financial education to their members through “the training and 

education of members in the wise use of money and in the 

management of their financial affairs.116 

 However, while it was generally recognised that there was all-142.

Wales credit union coverage, a majority of witnesses commented that 

some unions were more successful than others.  Although 61% of 

respondents to our questionnaire stated that knew what credit unions 

were, a majority of our witnesses considered that awareness of credit 

unions amongst the population as a whole was still relatively low.  

Scope suggested its own research showed 98 per cent of people never 

or rarely use a credit union, while Age Cymru suggested that there was 

a low awareness of credit unions amongst older people. The co-

ordinator of the North Wales Financial Capability Forum suggested that 

the movement was not growing at a rate sufficient to challenge home 

credit companies (doorstep lenders such as Provident). 

 The Minister for Social Justice and Local Government 143.

acknowledged that awareness and usage of credit unions could be 

increased, but commented that: 

                                       
114 CC(3) FI 13 
115 CC(3) FI 23  
116 CC(3) FI 23 

Page 81



53 
 

“Rather than trying to bring about the growth of the sector, I 

am currently trying to ensure its stability first. We do not want 

to build a huge unit that does not have firm foundations.”117 

 Bearing in mind the recent closure of Landsker Community Credit 144.

Union we concur with the Minister’s assessment.  We also welcome the 

fact that savers with this credit union were able to recover their 

savings through the Financial Services Compensation Scheme, 

illustrating the relative security of saving with such credit unions. 

Community Development Finance Institutions 

 Community Housing Cymru, the representative body for housing 145.

associations in Wales, has been instrumental in the establishment of 

Moneyline Cymru, a Community Development Finance Institution 

(CDFI) developed specifically to provide affordable loans and to 

respond to the use of doorstep lenders by housing association 

tenants. Community Housing Cymru’s written evidence described 

Moneyline Cymru as “an affordable, responsible and sustainable 

lending project which [also] provides financial planning and money 

advice.”118  

 Responding to our concerns about the relatively high interest 146.

rates placed on some of its loans, Community Housing Cyrmu 

commented that: 

“What we are trying to do is to plug that gap and assist that 

next cohort of people who have not been in a position to save 

with a credit union over three months, do not have credit union 

membership, are a high risk, and would never be served by a 

bank. Their only other alternative, their best next alternative, is 

275 per cent from a doorstep lender. That best next alternative 

on £100 over 52 weeks will cost them £70 in interest charges 

for that £100. People who come through Moneyline will be lent 

against risk, and we will assess the risk that they carry. The 

interest rate will vary between 27 per cent, which is just above 

what credit unions charge, up to about 41 per cent. So, if we 

were charging somebody 27 per cent, they would pay £19 for 

the £100 that they borrow over the period of 12 months, which 

is obviously £51 cheaper than the doorstep lender. We give an 

                                       
117 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 8 July 2010, Para 157 
118 CC(3) FI 21 

Page 82



54 
 

example of where that has had a pretty significant effect on 

one individual: a 61-year-old woman who is on benefits paying 

£200 a month to a doorstep lender. Moneyline redeemed that 

debt and she now pays £80 a month, and, within that £80, £20 

goes to the local credit union, so she is starting to have savings 

for the first time. [50] Over time, we will have to assess how 

things go with default rates. Where we can bring down interest 

rate charges, we are very keen to do that, but I can assure you 

that we have been very aware of that. However, to show some 

leadership, given the scale of the problem out there, we still 

feel that it is much better to offer people a 27 or 40 per cent 

loan than simply to throw them to the alternatives, which can 

be anything from 270 per cent to 2,000 per cent, in some 

cases.”119 

 Community Housing Cymru noted that Moneyline’s interest rates 147.

were higher than those charged by credit unions, but lower than 

doorstep home credit companies. 

 However, we expressed some concerns about these higher 148.

interest rates, with Mohammed Asghar AM remarking that:  

“you say that you are reducing interest rates from 275 per cent 

to a lesser percentage, but someone jumping from floor 270 of 

a building or floor 26 will still get hurt.”120   

 Indeed, one respondent to our questionnaire advocated that:  149.

“we should also look to legislate to prevent interest rates that 

are beyond 50% - its scandalous daylight robbery on the most ill-

educated, desperate, poorest and vulnerable people and its a 

disgrace that it has been left by politicians to go unchecked.” 121 

 We remain concerned about such high interest rates, and the lack 150.

of a national ban on excessive interest rates.  Notably, in ‘The 

Coalition: Our Programme for Government’ the UK Government stated 

that it would: 

                                       
119 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 10 June 2010, Para 49-50 
120 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 10 June 2010, Para 61 
121 Responses to Committee’s questionnaire. 

Page 83



55 
 

“give regulators new powers to define and ban excessive interest 

rates on credit and store cards; and we will introduce a seven-

day cooling-off period for store cards.”122 

 We therefore look forward to the development of these proposals. 151.

Home Contents Insurance 

 The low take-up of home contents insurance was mentioned by 152.

both Les Cooper and Community Housing Cymru.  Both suggested that 

there should be more awareness raising of this issue, with Community 

Housing Cymru suggesting there should be a concerted campaign by 

both the sector and Welsh Government to encourage take-up.   

 We consider that this issue could usefully be addressed through 153.

the media campaign detailed in recommendation 12 of our report. 

Financial exclusion through lack of internet access 

 Age Cymru noted that many financial products are increasingly 154.

only available online which presents a barrier to anyone without 

internet access.   

 This concern was echoed by Consumer Focus Wales which 155.

pointed to its own research on this subject, Logged in or locked out?, 

which pointed to just 27 per cent of those aged 65 or over having 

access to the internet.  This report also highlighted more affluent 

social groups as more likely to have internet access. National Energy 

Action Cymru continued this theme by highlighting that many of the 

best deals for energy are not an option for those people who are 

“digitally excluded”123 or who have no bank account. 

 We are concerned that people may lack internet access both 156.

through lack of skills and technology, and welcome the efforts of both 

the Welsh and UK Governments to address these needs.  We also note 

and look forward to the National Assembly for Wales’ Enterprise and 

Learning Committee’s forthcoming inquiry into The Welsh 

Government’s intended approach to the implementation, monitoring 

and evaluation of the Economic Renewal Programme.  We understand 

that this inquiry will have a particular focus on infrastructure, skills 

and broadband. 

                                       
122 The Coalition: Our Programme for Government, HM Government, page 12. 
123 CC(3) FI 18 

Page 84



56 
 

3. Stigma 

“Don’t know who to ask. Do not want to admit it to family and 
friends… I was too embarrassed to ask for help: I felt that I 'should' 
know how to manage my money. It would have been a bit like saying I 
didn't have any common sense. I learnt from my mistakes in silence.” 

- Anonymous responses to Committee’s Financial Education 

questionnaire. 124 

 ContinYou Cymru commented that part of the reason why 157.

financial education doesn’t always reach those who need it the most is 

because of the “stigma” attached to not understanding finances.125  The 

Minister for Social Justice and Local Government agreed that:  

“there is still that stigma because people sometimes do not 

want to ask for advice on money… Sometimes, people may 

think that it is silly to ask a certain question, but the answer 

might make a huge difference to their lives”126 

 Several witnesses commented that this stigma could make banks 158.

and other financial institutions appear intimidating to people in need 

of financial education.  The Mid, South and West Wales Financial 

Capability Forum Co-ordinator commented that 

“a lot of the people we were working with felt intimidated and 

would not even want to walk through the door of a bank or a 

financial institution. They felt that they were too poor to use 

these services, that they would not know the correct questions 

to ask, that they would feel intimidated by the staff and that 

they did not have a driving licence or a passport, or whatever 

they would need.”127 

 By contrast, the ABCUL commented that while:  159.

                                       
124 Responses to Committee’s questionnaire. Notably, despite 57.1% of respondents 
to our questionnaire stating that they had experienced money problems, 67.7% of 
respondents stated that they had never asked for help in managing their money. 
125 CC(3) FI 06 
126 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 8 July 2010, Paras 133 and 144 
127 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 10 June 2010, Para 136 

Page 85



57 
 

“there are many barriers to people feeling that a bank is a 

welcoming place. We feel that, in many credit unions, we can 

do something that welcomes people better than that.”128
 

 We are concerned that stigma can be an enormous barrier to 160.

accessing financial services or gaining a financial education.  We 

consider, however, that by addressing financial education through 

universal channels, such as schools and via a media campaign, that 

myths and stigma can be effectively challenged. 

 

 

                                       
128 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 24 June 2010, Para 65 

Page 86



58 
 

4. Income Maximisation and Debt Minimisation 

 The links between financial education, access to affordable credit 161.

and income maximisation were emphasised by many consultees in 

their written evidence.  For example, Consumer Focus Wales 

commented that: 

“Linking financial education with income maximisation 

programmes would also help to provide a more holistic service. 

Alerting people to the benefits they are entitled to and 

supporting take-up is just one aspect. Financial education can 

also help people to understand the benefits system, particularly 

important when Government policy means entitlements may 

change and incomes may be reduced, as well as providing 

people with key budgeting skills to help them manage on a 

very limited income.”129 

 Similarly, Citizens Advice Cymru commented that: 162.

“You must do income maximisation and understanding money 

management, because they go together.  Any debt service that 

does not do income maximisation is not a decent debt service. 

You must do both because people’s lives are about what comes 

in and what goes out. People will not learn to manage their 

money unless they understand both sides of that equation.”130 

 Witnesses also agreed that it was valuable for financial education 163.

initiatives to recognise that debts would sometimes need to be taken 

on, and look at minimising the impact of such debts.  For example, 

Carmarthenshire Council noted the importance of not focusing 

financial education solely on debt prevention as:  

“the most financially literate person can find themselves in debt 

due to unforeseen circumstances and/or bad choices made 

despite high levels of capability.”131 

                                       
129

 CC(3) FI 14 

130 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 24 June 2010, Para 130 
131 CC(3) FI 26 

Page 87



59 
 

Benefit take-up 

 Age UK noted that the UK Government has estimated that poverty 164.

levels amongst older people could be reduced by around one third if 

there was a full take-up of the income related benefits they were 

entitled to.  Pension Credit and Council Tax Benefit were both 

specifically mentioned as areas where there are particularly low take-

up rates.132  They suggested that an automatic payment of benefits 

may be a way forward and made reference to a pilot in England. 

 Income maximisation is of particular concern to National Energy 165.

Action Cymru who highlighted the difference it would make to those in 

fuel poverty.  They saw the role of local authorities as key, and 

repeated their call for a statutory duty to be placed on local authorities 

to tackle fuel poverty – something they feel could not be achieved 

without adequately addressing many aspects of financial inclusion.133  

Other witnesses also suggested that local authorities could have a 

more proactive role in prompting people to apply for benefits if they 

were entitled to them. For example, the North Wales Financial 

Capability Forum Co-ordinator commented that: 

“the housing department, the rent officers, do not seem to talk 

too much about housing benefit at a strategic level. They may 

chase housing benefit claims on behalf of a particular resident, 

but I think that the two departments should be under the same 

management team, to get that synergy between the two 

aspects. Local authorities are very aggressive in the way they 

recover council tax arrears. If they applied that level of 

aggression to helping people in the first place, I think that they 

could get the same sort of results… We use rent arrears, within 

the Wales and West Housing Association, as a trigger, an 

indicator that something is going wrong, and I think that local 

authorities could just as well do that, not just with rent, but 

with council tax. Before they send the account to a bailiff 

company, let us just think about what is going wrong. Let us 

establish a dialogue with that person before we take it onto 

another level.”134 

                                       
132 CC(3) FI 13 
133 CC(3) FI 18 
134 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 22 April 2010, Paras 96- 97 

Page 88



60 
 

 Shelter Cymru also agreed that Local Authorities could have a 166.

more active role in promoting information, commenting that “Local 

authorities can also be involved in promoting services to the public in 

their areas through the information that they put out, such as internet 

sites, newspapers and so on.”135 

 Consumer Focus Wales also suggested that as the Welsh 167.

Government are already funders of several income maximisation 

programmes, such as:  

“Better Advice: Better Health; local authority based initiatives to 

increase the take-up of Housing/Council Tax Benefit; increasing 

benefit take up amongst families with disabled children; and 

the Home Energy Efficiency Scheme… the Committee could 

recommend cross-referral mechanisms between these 

programmes and financial capability initiatives are improved.”136 

 We welcome the work that the Welsh Government have 168.

undertaken, for a considerable period of time, to ensure a proactive 

approach to benefit take-up across local services.  We urge the Welsh 

Government to continue these efforts. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government continue to engage 

with local authorities and third sector advice services to ensure a 

proactive approach to enabling benefit take-up.  We anticipate this 

would include ensuring that if people are known to be in rent 

and/or council tax arrears that they are signposted to information 

on benefits that they may be entitled to, but are not claiming. 

 

Debt Minimisation 

 Consumer Focus Wales noted that it had commissioned a Wales-169.

wide debt survey which was published in August 2010. 

 Katija Dew made reference to remarks made by Citizens Advice 170.

that indicate many debt problems are precipitated by a major change 

in life circumstances such as unemployment.   She stated her support 

for the CFEBs strategy of targeting individuals at key life stages. 

 We welcome the work undertaken by the CFEB to address debt 171.

minimisation. 
                                       
135 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 20 May 2010, Para 117 
136 CC(3) FI 14 

Page 89



61 
 

 

Illegal money lending 

 The vast majority of witnesses and members of the public 172.

(completing the Committee’s financial education questionnaire) 

considered that financial education was a significant factor in deterring 

people from being exploited by illegal money lending. 137  Indeed, one 

pupil from Ysgol y Bryn Gwalia specifically commented that, as a result 

of the financial education they had received “we won’t borrow from 

loan sharks.”138  The North Wales Financial Capability Forum co-

ordinator commented that: 

“With the growing problem of illegal money lending there is 

also a need for the police to be more proactive on social 

housing estates. Community police officers are ideally placed 

to monitor the “credit traffic” in their areas and should be able 

to differentiate between individuals engaged in such activity. 

The collection of low level intelligence could make a positive 

contribution to the work of the Illegal Money Lending Unit.”139 

 However, a number of witnesses also commented that preventing 173.

illegal money lending relied as much on enabling access to (legal) 

financially accessible products, as it did on financial education.  For 

example, Scope noted that “it is access to credit rather than a lack of 

awareness of the consequences that is the biggest factor in the use of 

doorstep lending and loan sharks.”140   

 Notably, the work of the Wales Illegal Money Lending Unit was 174.

praised by a number of consultees.  In its written evidence, the Unit 

noted that: 

“Working within communities, with our stakeholder and partner 

agencies on a daily basis has demonstrated a frustration on the 

lack of accessibility of affordable credit for those who really 

need it.  Many loan sharks target and entrap those who are 

vulnerable and cannot on their own access credit, employment 

or other means of remaining on an even keel.”141 

                                       
137 92.7% of respondents to the Committee’s questionnaire considered that a 
financial education would make people less likely to borrow money from loan sharks. 
138 CC(3) AWE 04 Note of Members Rapportuer visit to Ysgol y Bryn Gwalia 
139 CC(3) FI 03 
140 CC(3) FI 27 
141 CC(3) FI 31 

Page 90



62 
 

 The Minister for Social Justice and Local Government also praised 175.

the work of the unit, commenting that: 

“A month or two ago, there was a big crackdown on illegal 

money-lending in Flintshire, in the area that you represent, 

Chair. I cannot say enough about the unit; it is really good, I am 

very supportive of it, and it is doing a good job. However, it 

could come under threat because of the finances. A partnership 

approach is being taken, involving trading standards, the 

police, and funding from the Department for Business, 

Innovation and Skills goes in to support the unit.”142 

 We fully support and welcome the range of work undertaken by 176.

the Wales Illegal Money Lending Unit, and consider the continuation of 

its role to have critical importance, especially in the current economic 

climate. 

We recommend that the Welsh Government continues to engage 

with stakeholders and the UK Government to raise awareness of 

illegal money lending and the damaging impact it has on families 

and communities. As part of this, we anticipate that the Welsh 

Government will continue to engage with partners to ensure that 

the valuable role of the Illegal Money Lending Unit is sustained 

and developed. 
 

                                       
142 RoP, Communities and Culture Committee, 8 July 2010, Para 167 

Page 91



63 
 

Witnesses 

The following witnesses provided oral evidence to the Committee on 

the dates noted below. Transcripts of all oral evidence sessions can be 

viewed in full at http://www.assemblywales.org/bus-home/bus-

committees/bus-committees-scrutiny-committees/bus-committees-

third-ccc 

 

22 April   

Les Cooper, Co-ordinator of 

the North Wales Financial 

Capability Forum 

North Wales Financial Capability Forum and 

Wales and West Housing Association 

20 May  

Katija Dew, Financial Inclusion 

Champion, Wales 

Department of Work and Pensions Financial 

Inclusion Champions Team in Wales 

John Puzey, Director  

Rhian Jones, Education Co-

ordinator  

Kath Dobie, Projects Manager   

Shelter Cymru 

Lee Phillips, Financial 

Capability Manager for Wales  

Chris Pond, Director of 

Financial Capability and Senior 

Adviser at the FSA 

Financial Services Association (FSA) and 

Consumer Financial Education Body (CFEB) 

10 June  

Clare Williams, Financial 

Inclusion Officer 

Nick Bennett, Chief Executive 

Officer  

Community Housing Cymru (CHC) 

 
  

Page 92



64 
 

 

Jayne Wynn, Financial 

Capability Manager at Powys 

Citizens Advice Bureaux and 

Co-ordinator of Mid and South 

and West Wales Financial 

Capability Forum 

Mid, South and West Wales Financial 

Capability Forum 

 

24 June   

Mark Lyonette, Chief Executive  Association of British Credit Unions (ABCUL) 

Fran Targett, Director Wales  Citizens Advice Bureaux 

8 July   

Carl Sargeant, Minister for 

Social Justice and Local 

Government 

Lynne Schofield, Head of 

Financial Inclusion Unit  

Welsh Government 

 

Page 93



65 
 

List of written evidence 

The following people and organisations provided written evidence to 

the Committee. All written evidence can be viewed in full at 

http://www.assemblywales.org/bus-home/bus-committees/bus-

committees-scrutiny-committees/bus-committees-third-ccc-home.htm  

 

Name Organisation Reference 

Ian Ross, Policy and 

Development 

Manager 

Rathbone Cymru FI 01 

Leighton Hughes, 

Community Trainee 

Rhondda Housing Association 

 

FI 02 

Les Cooper, Co-

ordinator of the 

North Wales 

Financial Capability 

Forum 

North Wales Financial Capability 

Forum and Wales and West 

Housing Association 

FI 03  

Zoë Brewis, 

Research and 

Information Officer 

Association of Teachers and 

Lecturers 

FI 04  

David Lermon, 

Director for Wales 

The Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England & Wales 

FI 05  

Pam Boyd, Executive   

Director 

ContinYou Cymru FI 06  

Dr. Claes Belfrage 

Dr. Alan Finlayson  

Swansea University FI 07  

Katija Dew, Financial 

Inclusion Champion, 

Wales 

Department of Work and 

Pensions Financial Inclusion 

Champions Team in Wales 

FI 08  

AWE 01 

 
  

Page 94



66 
 

 

Anita Myfanwy, End 

Child Poverty 

Network Cymru 

Development Officer 

Children in Wales co-ordinated 

End Child Poverty Network Cymru  

FI 09  

Jackie Dix, Acting 

Policy and Research 

Manager 

Caerphilly Borough Council FI 10 

Jon Brenchley, 

Regional Head of 

Corporate Affairs, 

Wales 

Barclays FI 11  

Rhian Jones, 

Education Co-

ordinator  

Shelter Cymru FI 12  

AWE 02 

Graeme Francis, 

Head of Policy and 

Public Affairs 

Age Cymru FI 13  

Lindsey Kearton, 

Senior Policy 

Advocate 

Consumer Focus Wales FI 14  

Jan Owen, 

Development Officer 

(Employer 

Mentoring) 

Education Business 

Team 

Careers North East Wales and 

Debtcred 

FI 15  

Fran Targett, 

Director Wales 

Citizens Advice Cymru FI 16  

AWE 06, 6a, 

6b, 6c, 6d 

Helen Roach, 

Development Officer 

National Energy Action (NEA) 

Cymru 

FI 18  

 

Page 95



67 
 

Mary Sherwood, 

Campaigns & 

Development Officer 

Swansea’s Financial Inclusion 

Steering Group 

FI 19  

Linda Pritchard, 

Welsh Policy Officer 

YWCA England & Wales FI 21  

Clare Williams, 

Financial Inclusion 

Officer 

Community Housing Cymru FI 20  

Lee Phillips, 

Financial Capability 

Manager for Wales  

Consumer Financial Education 

Body (CFEB) 

FI 22  

AWE 07 and 

07a 

Matt Bland, Policy & 

Communications 

Assistant   

ABCUL – Association of British 

Credit Unions Limited 

FI 23  

Richard Jones 

Abbas, Anti-poverty 

and Welfare Rights 

Manager 

Denbighshire Social Services   FI 24  

Anthea Hogg, 

Tenancy Services 

Manager  

Clywd Alyn Housing Association FI 25  

Llinos Evans, 

Partnership & Policy 

Officer 

Carmarthenshire County Council FI 26  

Matt O’Grady, Policy 

and Campaigns 

Officer (Wales) 

Scope Cymru FI 27  

 
  

Page 96



68 
 

 

Jayne Wynn, 

Financial Capability 

Manager at Powys 

Citizens Advice 

Bureaux and Co-

ordinator of Mid and 

South and West 

Wales Financial 

Capability Forum 

Mid, South and West Wales 

Financial Capability Forum 

FI 28 

Barry Williams 

Administrative 

Support Officer 

Welsh Local Government 

Association  

FI 29 

Carl Sargeant, 

Minister for Social 

Justice and Local 

Government  

Welsh Government  FI 30 

Steven Hay, 

Operational 

Manager (Consumer 

Services)   

Illegal Money Lending Project  FI 31 

Rod Mckee, Head of 

Financial Capability 

ifs School of Finance 

Note of Members visit to 

Garnlydan Information Shop 

Note of Members visit to Bryn 

Gwalia School 

Note of Members visit to Ysgol Y 

Berwyn 

Additional information from the 

Minister for Children, Education 

and Lifelong Learning   

Note of Members visit to 

Swansea Citizens Advice Bureau  

FI 32 

AWE 03 

 

AWE 04 

 

AWE 05 

 

AWE 08 

 

 

AWE 09   

 
 

Page 97



Written response to the Communities & Culture Committee report on ‘Financial 
Inclusion and the Impact of Financial Education’ by Carl Sargeant, the Minister 
for Social Justice and Local Government 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Welsh Assembly Government welcomes the Communities & Culture Committee 
report on ‘Financial Inclusion and the Impact of Financial Education’.   
 
This inquiry and the Committee’s recently published reports are of course extremely 
timely.  In these particularly difficult times the people of Wales, more than anywhere 
else, are faced with the UK Government’s unprecedented cuts - cuts which already 
vulnerable people will have to bear the brunt of in the coming months and years. 

 
We need to address the significant challenges that this brings.  We have made a 
strong start with our Financial Inclusion Strategy  and much has already been 
achieved in providing a broad range of financial products and services, supported by 
the provision of easily accessible and free to use financial education and advice 
services, for all people living in Wales, but especially those who are already financially 
excluded and marginalised from society.   
 
External forces beyond our direct control, such as the economy and UK Government 
budgetary and policy decisions, will continue to test our resolve and our commitment 
to achieving financial inclusion, shared with our partners in Wales with whom we will 
continue to work. 
 
The Assembly Government sets out below its response to the report’s individual 
recommendations. 
 

 
Recommendation 1. We recommend that the Welsh Government engage in dialogue 
with the UK Government, to emphasise that in the current financial climate, the 
provision of financial education has an even greater importance, and that finance 
should be utilised to enable the roll out of the Consumer Financial Education Body‘s 
(CFEB) Moneymadeclear service. 
 
Response: Accept  
 
Comment: We will continue to discuss with the UK Government and CFEB the 
importance of financial education and capability.  We are aware of the current 
proposals to fund the roll out of the Moneymadeclear service via the CFEB levy 
on financial institutions and will seek reassurances from the Government that 
this is a viable proposition that will deliver the fully accessible, quality service 
committed to by the previous UK Government. 
 
Financial implications: None  
 

Page 98



Recommendation 2. We recommend that the Welsh Government invites the Welsh 
Language Commissioner (when established by the Welsh Language Measure) to 
engage with providers of financial education, to encourage them to ensure money 
advice is provided in Welsh, as well as other language. 
 
Response: Accept in principle  
 
Comment: We agree that the Welsh Language Commissioner (when established, 
and subject to the proposed Welsh Language Measure being approved) will 
have an important role to play, although it is important to recognise that the 
Commissioner will be independent and will determine his or her own activities, 
timetables and priorities.  It is also the Welsh Assembly Government’s 
responsibility to promote and encourage Welsh Medium provision, for example 
through terms and conditions of funding arrangements with providers and we 
will review our role in this. 
 
We have arranged for a number of teaching resources to be made available 
bilingually where practitioners have agreed that the materials would add 
significant value to the provision for financial education in schools. In addition, 
the Welsh Financial Education Unit continues to work with partners in the 
financial services sector. The Unit provides advice on the development of 
materials so that they are consistent with the curriculum in Wales and also 
ensures that partners are aware of the needs of schools that work primarily 
through the medium of Welsh. 
 
Financial implications: None in terms of reviewing funding terms and 
conditions.   Provision for the commissioning of Welsh language classroom 
materials is already provided in the Education Budget. 
 
Recommendation 3. We recommend that the Welsh Government make a public 
commitment that it will seek to ensure that the strategic role of the Wales Financial 
Education Unit is sustained and developed to help improve the provision of financial 
education both in schools and within the wider community. 
 
Response: Under consideration 
 
Comment: It was agreed that the Welsh Financial Education Unit would be 
established, initially, for a period of two years. The progress made in that period 
and the case for further support to be provided by the Welsh Assembly 
Government for the delivery of financial education in schools will be considered 
at the end of the two years, in April 2011, and in the light of the current 
evaluation of the Unit's work.   
 
Financial implications: Provision for the Welsh Financial Education Unit in 2010-
11 in the Education Budget is  £240,000.  This includes £140,000 provided by the 
CFEB which  will come to an end in March 2011.  Costs for any further support 
for the delivery of financial education in schools would need to be considered 
alongside other pressures within the Education Budget. 
 

Page 99



Recommendation 4. We recommend that the Welsh Government provide a ‘central 
hub‘ of information about financial capability projects, and giving monitoring and 
evaluation guidance for the design and implementation of new projects and services. 
We anticipate that this would also include a directory of existing resources which it 
considered suitable for schools to utilise in providing financial education. We anticipate 
that this would facilitate the sharing of good practice, and would also enable schools to 
quickly identify and develop links with potential partners for the delivery of financial 
education in their local areas. 
 
Response: Accept in principle. 
 
Comment: We agree that there is a need for a co-ordinated approach to financial 
capability and to sharing good practice.  We do need to be mindful of the costs 
of such an initiative, particularly during this challenging time when public sector 
funding faces considerable pressures.  The Assembly Government will discuss 
the potential for this work with key stakeholder partners.  
 
We have already agreed that the National Grid for Learning, Cymru will host an 
intranet site to support the provision of financial education on schools. The site 
will include details of teaching materials and classroom resources for financial 
education. It will also feature good practice including work with partners in the 
third sector and the financial services sector in the delivery of financial 
education. In addition, we are providing schools with guidance on the delivery 
of financial education. This will include details of teaching resources and local 
and national partners willing to support financial education in schools. 
 
Financial implications: Uncosted in terms of wider financial capability, further 
work would be required to cost this proposal.  Any financial commitment would 
need to be considered alongside other pressures within the SJLG Budget.  In 
terms of the National Grid for Learning, Cymru intranet site, provision is already 
made in the Education Budget. 
 
Recommendation 5. We recommend that the Welsh Government, through forums 
such as the financial inclusion steering group, and in association with the UK 
Government, encourage financial organisations to provide funds for independent 
organisations to provide financial education programmes. 
 
Response: Accept. 
 
Comment: We agree that financial organisations  are duty bound to ensure that 
their customers are fully aware of the obligations they take on and, more 
generally, have a better understanding of financial issues overall.  Many 
financial institutions address this commitment through their levy to the 
Financial Services Authority which supports the work of CFEB  and through 
their own corporate social responsibility programmes.  There may however be 
some scope in aligning this work and we will though take this recommendation 
forward through the Financial Inclusion Steering Group. 
 
Financial implications: None 
 

Page 100



Recommendation 6. We recommend that the Welsh Government engage with both 
public and private sector employers to encourage them to facilitate the participation of 
their employees in workplace based financial education seminars, and in receiving 
financial education resources. 
  
Response: Accept. 
 
Comment: The Welsh Assembly Government fully supports CFEB’s workplace 
initiative and has provided opportunities for staff to attend Make the Most of 
Your Money workplace seminars and recently distributed CFEB guides to all 
Assembly Government staff.   
We have been working with CFEB (and previously the FSA) for over 3 years to 
promote workplace seminars to a range of employers.  This has been extremely 
successful with CFEB having reached over 100,000 people in Wales with the 
Making the Most of Your Money booklets, through more than 100 different 
employers with over 4,700 attendees at presentations.   
 
However we acknowledge more can be done and we will work with CFEB to 
redouble our efforts in this area.  
 
Financial implications: None. 
 
Recommendation 7. We recommend that the Welsh Government engage with local 
authorities across Wales to highlight the crosscutting value of addressing financial 
inclusion and financial education as part of their existing statutory responsibilities. We 
anticipate that as part of this, the Welsh Government would encourage individual local 
authorities and housing associations to identify senior individuals to have an 
overarching responsibility for financial inclusion and financial education work, across 
the authority/association. 
 
Response: Accept. 
 
Comment: We work closely with the Welsh Financial Inclusion Champions Team 
who work strategically and at a local level. The strategic element of this work 
seeks to affect the commitment, values and policy of those organisations that 
work with people disadvantaged by financial exclusion, and directly feeds into 
the local and regional delivery element of the project. 
 
We would though like to see a greater strategic commitment from local 
authorities and will work with the Champions to pursue this  
 
The Welsh Financial Education Unit is working in partnership with local 
authorities to support financial education in schools. It is anticipated that by the 
end of March 2011 the Unit will have delivered 24 training sessions in 
partnership with local authorities. 
 
Financial implications: The Assembly Government currently contributes, with 
the Department of Work and Pensions, to the funding of the Welsh Financial 
Inclusion Team.  This funding is due to end in March 2011 and  
any ongoing financial commitment would need to be considered alongside 
other pressures within the SJLG Budget.  Provision for WFEU is made in the 
Education Budget. 

Page 101



Recommendation 8. We recommend that the Welsh Government ensures that the 
provision of financial education is a compulsory element of the PSE framework, and 
reviews the emphasis placed on financial education on a regular basis. 
 
Response: Accept in principle.   
 
Comment: All maintained schools in Wales already have a statutory 
responsibility to provide broad, balanced Personal and Social Education for all 
pupils of compulsory school age. The non-statutory Personal and social 
education framework for 7 to 19- year-olds in Wales, which is widely used in 
schools, has financial education as a key component for learners aged 7 to 16 
years old. This reflects our commitment to tackling financial exclusion. For 
example, 14 to 16-year-olds should be given opportunities to understand the 
importance of planning for their financial futures and how to access financial 
advice. Personal and social education as with all other aspects of the school 
curriculum is subject to regular review. 
 
Financial implications: No additional financial implications. Provision for the 
monitoring and review of the school curriculum is made in the Education 
Budget. 
 
Recommendation 9. We recommend that the Welsh Government invite Estyn to 
consider whether the standards of financial education delivered in schools, including 
provision delivered through external agencies, are adequately promoted and 
monitored. 
 
Response: Accept in principle 
 
Comment: Financial education is built into both provision for Mathematics and 
Personal and Social Education in the school curriculum. In line with the 
requirements of the Common Inspection Framework, Estyn inspections assess 
the provision made by schools including judging the extent to which learning 
experiences cover the school curriculum effectively. Inspections also consider 
how well schools collaborate with partners to deliver coherent programmes and 
choices. Welsh Ministers also commission Estyn to undertake a number of 
cross cutting thematic studies. Current work includes the provision of a report 
by May 2011 on good practice in the provision of financial education in primary 
and secondary schools. The case for further thematic reports on financial 
education will be kept under review.  
 
Financial implications: None. 
 
Recommendation 10. We recommend that the Welsh Government consider 
undertaking a sustained media campaign to help people to understand the benefits of 
financial inclusion and education, and how they can access support and financial 
services (including basic bank accounts and home contents insurance) locally, 
working with stakeholders at local and national levels. 
 
Response: Reject. 
 
Comment: Whilst it is recognised that awareness raising is an important aspect 
of achieving behavioural change, careful consideration needs to be given to 

Page 102



investing significant amounts of public money in any form of media campaign in 
the current climate.  Instead we will continue to work with CFEB, the Financial 
Inclusion Champions and the Welsh Financial Education Unit, using their 
excellent resources to target employees, students and expectant parents, 
amongst others, to improve their understanding of financial issues. 
 
Financial implications: None. 
 
Recommendation 11. We recommend that the Welsh Government continue to engage 
with high street banks to take a more positive approach to the opening of basic bank 
accounts. 
 
Response: Accept. 
 
Comment: Access to mainstream financial services remains one of the major 
challenges to tackling financial exclusion and this view has been supported by 
the new Coalition Government’s commitment to improving access to banking 
for consumers, specifically low income family consumers.  Much of the work 
that has already been undertaken in this area has been beyond the direct 
control of the Assembly Government but we have worked closely with HM 
Treasury on the take up of basic bank accounts and with LINK on the roll-out of 
free to use ATMs in Wales. 
 
We will continue to engage with high street banks and the UK Government to 
encourage the opening and regular use of basic bank accounts. 
 
Further, the provision of current accounts will only make a positive difference if 
individuals are confident and capable of using them to their best effect.  We will 
continue to work with CFEB on the delivery of Money Guidance to support 
individuals improve their basic financial capability.  
 
Consideration should also be given to alternative financial services providers 
and products such as Credit Unions operating their current or budgeting 
accounts to provide people with manageable choices.  We will continue to 
support the development and growth of a sustainable credit union, able to 
provide these services to all citizens in Wales.  On 14 September I announced 
new funding of £3.4 million to support of credit unions in Wales up to the end of 
2013.  This is made up of £1.6 million from the Assembly Government and £1.8 
million from WEFO. 
 
Financial implications: None. 
 
Recommendation 12. We recommend that the Welsh Government continue to engage 
with local authorities and third sector advice services to ensure a proactive approach 
to enabling benefit take-up.  We anticipate this would include ensuring that if people 
are known to be in rent and/or council tax arrears that they are signposted to 
information on benefits that they may be entitled to, but are not claiming. 
 
Response: Accept. 
 
Comment: We will continue to fund a range of benefit take up initiatives working 
in partnership with local authorities and the third sector to ensure services are 

Page 103



accessible to all those who need support to claim the benefits to which they are 
entitled.  
 
The Assembly Government’s response to the increased demand for advice 
services has been to provide funding for a number of initiatives that will help 
support and streamline the delivery of services in Wales. For example, in 
November 2009, we provided £747,000 to Citizens Advice Cymru to establish a 
single number Adviceline which is now fully operational and providing an 
excellent service.  We will also work with CFEB to promote the Money Guidance 
service which will provide direct support to people to identify appropriate 
benefits. 
 
Working together in this way is helping to strengthen the advice network as it 
faces unprecedented pressure in the face of the current economic situation.  We 
will work with key stakeholders to ensure that joint working and imaginative 
ideas such as this contribute to achieving more with less as public finances 
face growing pressure. 
 
Financial implications: Approximately £2 millon per annum from the Social 
Justice and Local Government Budget. 
 
Recommendation 13. We recommend that the Welsh Government continues to 
engage with stakeholders and the UK Government to raise awareness of illegal 
money lending and the damaging impact it has on families and communities. As part 
of this, we anticipate that the Welsh Government will continue to engage with partners 
to ensure that the valuable role of the Illegal Money Lending Unit is sustained and 
developed. 
 
Response: Accept. 
 
Comment: The Welsh Assembly Government is fully supportive of the vital work 
the Illegal Money Lending Unit is taking forward across Wales.   
 
We very much hope that the UK Government will continue to support Illegal 
Money Lending Unit across the UK and that the Welsh Unit is adequately 
resourced to carry out and extend its functions to help more people escape the 
fear and intimidation of loan sharks. 
 
We pledge our ongoing support to the Unit and to working with them to carry 
out their functions, as well as supporting work with credit unions to promote 
affordable credit as an alternative to loan sharks.   
 
Financial implications: None 
 
 
 
 

Page 104


	Agenda
	3 Update on the Financial Inclusion and the Impact of Financial Education Report - November 2010
	5 Update on the Financial Inclusion and the Impact of Financial Education Report - November 2010
	CELG(4) - 24 -12 - Paper 2A

	6a CELG(4) - 24-12- Paper 3 - Additional information from the meeting on 4 October
	6b CELG(4) - 24 - 12 - Paper 4 and Paper 4A -  Financial Inclusion and the impact of Financial Education 2010 report and response from the Welsh Government
	CELG(4) - 24 -12 - Paper 4A


